

DBOPC
5/24/2018

Page 1

DETROIT BOARD OF POLICE COMMISSIONERS

WEEKLY MEETING

THURSDAY, MAY 24, 2018

3:00 P.M.

DETROIT PUBLIC SAFETY BUILDING

1301 Third Street

DETROIT, MICHIGAN 48207

1 COMMISSIONERS:

2 Lisa Carter, Chairperson

3 Willie E. Bell - (District 4)

4 Elizabeth Brooks - Member At-Large

5 Willie E. Burton - (District 5)

6 William Davis - (District 7)

7 Shirley Burch - (District 3)

8 Eva Garza Dewaelsche - Co-Chair, Member At-Large

9

10 BOARD SECRETARY: Gregory Hicks

11 ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT: Robert Brown

12

13 REPRESENTING THE CHIEF OF POLICE:

14 Arnold Williams - Assistant Chief of Police

15 Elvin Barren - Deputy Chief

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

DBOPC
5/24/2018

Page 3

	PAGE
1	
2 Roll Call	4
3 Chairperson Presentation	4
4 Assistant Chief of Police Report	10
5 Ceasfire Presentation	21
6 Secretary Report	50
7 Announcements	55
8 Public Comments:	
9 Ms. Faith	57
10 Ms. Smith	58
11 Eric Blunt	60
12 Crystal Fields	61
13	
14 Adjournment	64
15	
16	
17	
18	
19	
20	
21	
22	
23	
24	
25	

1 Detroit, Michigan

2 Thursday, May 24, 2018

3 (At about 3:31 P.M.)

4

— — —

5 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: For the record I'm
6 Lisa Carter, Chair of the Commission, and I'm going
7 to just do a quick roll call for the record. Eva
8 Dewaelsche is here, Willie Bell, Elizabeth Brooks,
9 Darrell Brown has been excused, Shirley Burch is
10 here, Willie Burton is here, Commissioner William
11 Davis is here, Commissioner Jim Holly is excused and
12 Commissioner Conrad Mallett, Jr. is excused. And
13 back to my report.

14 On behalf of the board I want to express
15 our concern and support for fallen and injured
16 officers and their families. Our board receives a
17 weekly report from the department listing injured
18 officers, and I would ask that Assistant Chief
19 Williams in your remarks please provide us with any
20 additional information related to the injured and
21 fallen officers. The board of police commissioners
22 meets every week except Thanksgiving and Christmas
23 holiday periods. We meet at police headquarters in
24 regular session three weeks in the month and on
25 Thursdays at 3 P.M. We also meet in the community

1 every second Thursday of the month at 6:30 P.M. The
2 board of police commissioners exists to provide
3 civilian oversight for the work of the Detroit
4 Police Department. As a board, we receive and
5 investigate noncriminal citizens' complaints, we
6 monitor the operations of the department and work
7 with the mayor and the chief of police to make and
8 modify -- or modify police policy. Our objective is
9 the same as any City of Detroit department. It's to
10 provide the best use of your tax dollars to improve
11 the quality of life within our city.

12 As a board, we bring unique perspective
13 to policing. The eye and viewpoint of civilians,
14 the principle of civilian oversight is as old and as
15 important as all of the founding principles in our
16 democracy. Separation of powers between and within
17 our government allows for accountability,
18 transparency, rights to appeal and citizen control.
19 These principles are important nationally as well as
20 locally.

21 I would like to call to attention to the
22 board several important items. On Friday, June 8th
23 and Saturday June 9th, the board will convene its
24 annual training session. The training session is an
25 opportunity for the board to fellowship, address

1 operational issues and measure our progress over the
2 year. This session will be focused on the board's
3 charter mandate of responsibilities and how they
4 intersect with the police department. We will also
5 have a special session on police authorized towing.
6 This session will be organized to give background
7 information and some of our new board members -- to
8 some of our new board members and will track
9 sufficient actions by the board on police-authorized
10 towing. The program will start at 12 o'clock noon
11 on June 8th and a half-day session -- we will have a
12 full-day session on Saturday -- Saturday, June 9th.
13 I would ask that each member of the board to mark
14 your calendar and plan to attend the training. I am
15 sure that the session will be as productive and
16 informative as the session of the previous year.

17 I also want to share with the general
18 public an important clarification. The City of
19 Detroit Assessor's Office recently mailed to
20 commercial property owners of the city of Detroit an
21 important letter announcing the reappraisal of all
22 commercial property. The letter was incorrectly put
23 on the Board of Police Commissioner's letterhead.
24 Obviously we are not involved in property
25 appraisals. However, this letter is important and

1 you should read and follow the directions in the
2 letter. I believe that there is a June 30, 2018
3 deadline imposed for commercial property owners to
4 return some important information back to the city's
5 assessor's office. Commissioners, I have requested
6 a copy of this letter to be placed in your board
7 package, so you will have an example of the printing
8 error and you can help commercial property owners
9 respond to the city's informational request before
10 June 30th deadline.

11 Additionally, according to recent news
12 releases, former Commander Timothy Leach and another
13 officer have been charged by the Wayne County
14 Prosecutor's Office surrounding an incident which
15 occurred on St. Patrick's Day. The press accounts
16 indicate that the department will be seeking the
17 board's approval of a request for suspension without
18 pay for Lieutenant Leach. I understand this request
19 has just arrived and Assistant Chief Williams, if
20 you would like to share any information on the
21 subject, please do so under your report. We will
22 schedule a closed session in the next week or so to
23 take up this matter.

24 On your agenda today is a presentation on
25 cease fire. The cease fire program was originally

1 organized in Boston in 1995 as a gang violence
2 prevention program. The basic goals of the program
3 was to attack the trafficking of illicit guns and set
4 up a series of alternatives to gang culture. As
5 these programs multiply across the country, we have
6 the strong involvement of the clergy, educational
7 and job development alternative programs and
8 naturally law enforcement at all levels of
9 government.

10 I hope our presentation today will
11 identify our local accomplishments and show why
12 data-driven programs with law enforcement and
13 community outreach can be effective. I also hope
14 that the presentation will provide information to
15 the board on a recently expanded program wherein the
16 department has invested additional staff and
17 resources. I encourage the department to discuss
18 any issues and concerns as the department is seeking
19 to expand the footprint of the program across the
20 city. Ultimately the issue -- the issue is, does
21 this type of program prevention work. And if so,
22 how can we support it and make it a central part of
23 local law enforcement activity.

24 Later in the meeting we will have oral
25 communications from the audience. I remind you if

1 you want to speak to the board, please make sure you
2 print your name on a speaker's card. The cards are
3 located in the back on the table or one can be
4 obtained from Mr. Brown. Mr. Brown will need your
5 card before the beginning of public comments. I
6 will caution everyone, we are enforcing the
7 two-minute speaking privilege and ask for your
8 cooperation in making our meetings timely and
9 productive. Thank you.

10 Oh, I'd also like to mention the Women in
11 Blue program that occurred yesterday that many of
12 the commissioners attended. And I want to
13 congratulate all of the nominees and the winners of
14 the Women in Blue of the Year award which went to --
15 for the police department, it was Officer Danielle
16 Wood, and for the fire department, I know her last
17 name was Wood, but I can't remember her first name,
18 and I work with her husband at the sheriff's
19 department, so I'm going to be in trouble. But
20 anyway, we want to congratulate them on the job well
21 done and a job well done by the organizers which
22 included the co-chair, Commissioner Elizabeth
23 Brooks. Thank you. And I'm sure she'll be speaking
24 on it later on.

25 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Chair, for the

1 record, if you want to get that name, it's Lenette.

2 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Lenette. Okay.

3 Thank you so much. I appreciate that. Lenette
4 Wood. It was Wood and Wood, I remember that.

5 Assistant Chief Williams, the floor is
6 yours. Thank you.

7 ASSISTANT CHIEF WILLIAMS: Thank you,
8 Madam Chair. Start off with the addition of our
9 officers who have been injured. Officer Waldis
10 Johnson, he is in long-term care facility still
11 recuperating from his gunshot wound to the head.
12 Officer Anthony Brown recuperating at home. Officer
13 James Kisselburg also still recuperating at home.
14 Officer Eric Smith recuperating at home. Sergeant
15 Bucy is recuperating at home from a broken ankle.
16 Officer Justin Marroquin is also recuperating at
17 home from receiving a strike to his head, and
18 Officer Christopher Bush is recuperating at home
19 after receiving stitches to his hand.

20 Also I'd like to just make an
21 announcement. We have graduating classes 2018 D and
22 E. The ceremony will take place tomorrow at Second
23 Ebenezer at 10:30 A.M. And also upcoming we have a
24 June 8th graduation for our first Wayne State
25 University Detroit Police Department leadership

1 academy, and that's going to be very exciting.

2 One of the things I want to talk about is
3 the Women in Blue event. I want to thank the
4 commissioners for having presence there. It was an
5 awesome event that gave us a lot of opportunity
6 to -- this is the first time we've honored fire as
7 well, but it was an awesome event. I'd like to
8 thank the sponsors and all those who attended, as
9 well.

10 Talking about Commander Leach -- I'm
11 sorry, Lieutenant Leach, former Commander Leach and
12 Officer Frederick Persons and the announcement of
13 the charges that they're facing, the one thing I
14 would like to say is that -- just to echo some of
15 the things that were said in the media. This is by
16 no means a reflection of the entire department. On
17 a daily basis our men and women who make up this
18 department, they go out, they work, they make good
19 decisions, they do those things that are in the best
20 interest of the community and provide for the safety
21 of the community.

22 Going into the actual crime for the city
23 of Detroit, the data I'm going to give you is for
24 year-to-date data. It's going to be a comparison
25 from 2018 year-to-date compared to 2017 for the same

1 time frame last year. So we're down 18 percent in
2 homicides, that's -- we have 18 fewer homicides this
3 year than we had last year this same time. We're up
4 33 percent in sexual assaults. We have 75 more
5 sexual assaults occurred this year than did last
6 year same time frame. We're down 16 percent in
7 robberies. We have 151 fewer robberies this year
8 than we did last year same time. For carjackings,
9 we're down three percent. That almost is the same
10 number. If you look at the hard numbers, that's a
11 decrease in actual -- three actual carjackings than
12 we had last year. For aggravated assaults we're
13 down five percent, that's 148 we're down this year,
14 than occurred last year same time frame. And for
15 nonfatal shootings, this is a phenomenal number,
16 we're actually down 23 percent; we've had 70 fewer
17 nonfatal shootings this year to date than we had
18 last year.

19 For our property crimes, burglaries,
20 we're down 25 percent, that's a decrease of 825.
21 For larcenies, it shows that we are at zero, but the
22 actual number is 14 percent. When you do the math,
23 it just comes out to zero for the percentages. For
24 stolen vehicles, we're down 22 percent, and the
25 actual hard number is 691 fewer stolen vehicles this

1 year than we had last year. So we're looking pretty
2 good as far as stolen vehicles go and property
3 crime.

4 At this time I'll take any questions the
5 board may have.

6 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you, Assistant
7 Chief Williams. Commissioners, any questions?

8 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: I have a question.

9 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Commissioner Davis?

10 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: I have a question,
11 young man, Assistant Chief, that's not related to
12 your report. I know I got a few calls, people are
13 concerned about a service fee that they're charging
14 at the Fourth Precinct of \$7.00 for a transaction.
15 Do you know anything about that?

16 ASSISTANT CHIEF WILLIAMS: It depends.
17 There are many different services that the police
18 department actually provides to the community, some
19 of them are at cost, purchase of some reports,
20 purchase of licenses. It would just depend on what
21 it was. I would have to --

22 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: You know, for using
23 the automatic teller, getting money out of the bank
24 machine.

25 ASSISTANT CHIEF WILLIAMS: Oh, the teller

1 machine?

2 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Yes.

3 ASSISTANT CHIEF WILLIAMS: Is it \$7.00?

4 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: That seems excessive
5 to me.

6 ASSISTANT CHIEF WILLIAMS: So, I don't
7 know if we can actually monitor those. We just put
8 them there for -- to provide safety for people to
9 utilize them, but we don't manage those, we don't
10 manage those at all. But that's something we can
11 definitely look at. \$7.00 is the most excessive fee
12 I've heard of.

13 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: All right. But I
14 don't want my friends in southwest of Detroit to
15 think that the City is helping to rob them, you
16 know.

17 ASSISTANT CHIEF WILLIAMS: Well I'll make
18 sure we look into that. And we'll talk to whoever
19 manages that ATM.

20 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you. Any
21 other questions, commissioners? Yes, Commissioner
22 Brooks.

23 COMMISSIONER BROOKS: Yes, I don't have a
24 question pertaining to your presentation, but I
25 would like to know if there's something being done

1 at this point to help the communities when the young
2 kids are going to school. I keep picking up the
3 paper, today's paper, there was a 16-year-old who
4 was almost -- who was grabbed and forced and she
5 made sure that she didn't get in the car. Someone
6 came along and helped her. And then a few blocks
7 away on the other side of town there was a -- I
8 think an 11-year-old. Is there anything in the
9 police department that you're doing to protect the
10 kids who are going to school? I know we need more
11 policemen, which we're working on, but --

12 ASSISTANT CHIEF WILLIAMS: Yes. So as
13 far as law enforcement, the law enforcement side
14 goes, we have what's called safe routes, and it's a
15 program where during the morning and during the time
16 when kids are walking to school and when the kids
17 are leaving school, it gives the parents those areas
18 where -- basically are called safe routes where
19 police are patrolling those routes. In addition to
20 that, we -- from what happened yesterday, we stepped
21 up our patrols and we had additional patrols out,
22 because if we do have a predator out there who's
23 trying to abduct our children, we want to make sure
24 that we let them know two things. Number one, we're
25 looking for you. Number two, we're going to find

1 you and number 3, we're going to make it very hard
2 for you to do anything that you want to do.

3 As far as the enforcement aspects, we
4 have composite drawings on both of those suspects
5 that tried to do the abductions yesterday. One was
6 an actual attempted abduction where physical contact
7 was made, and that was concerning the 16-year-old;
8 the second one with the 11-year-old, the individual
9 drove up in a yellow vehicle and asked her to come
10 towards his vehicle, and she ran. So we have those
11 composites being drawn, we will be releasing those
12 to the media. We are in partnership with the
13 Detroit Public Schools Police Department to make
14 sure that we increase both the security we have on
15 the schools and en route -- on the way to schools
16 for the children. We also have a lot of community
17 assistance, too. And I don't know if we have
18 anybody here from the neighborhood liaison, but I
19 know we definitely had assistance from Detroit 300
20 and some other community groups, as well, securing
21 those routes.

22 One thing I want to say, when things like
23 this happen, it's not just the law enforcement side
24 that's going to provide the answers, it's going to
25 be the community, it's going to be everybody

1 hand-in-hand doing it and also parents. If you can
2 take your child to school, take your child to
3 school. If you don't have a car, walk your child to
4 school if you're sending your child on foot. If you
5 can't do any of those things, make sure that your
6 child goes to school in a group with other children
7 who are going along in that same group. And then
8 let your children know if something happens, if
9 somebody tries to abduct you, scream, holler, run,
10 try to find another adult to help you.

11 COMMISSIONER BROOKS: Thank you.

12 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHÉ: Madam Chair, if
13 I could just follow up that, Assistant Chief, don't
14 we have officers that are assigned to some of the
15 schools or does that still happen?

16 ASSISTANT CHIEF WILLIAMS: So, as of now,
17 we have our neighborhood police officers, and
18 they're the primary officers that work the safe
19 routes to schools. But as far as having school
20 officers assigned, to my knowledge we don't have any
21 school officers assigned.

22 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: So this would be a
23 good opportunity also to encourage residents to join
24 community patrols. Join or -- start or join a
25 community patrol, and Deputy Chief Bettison is not

1 here, but they would have to get into contact with
2 his office, the community liaison office. That
3 presence makes a huge difference in a community, and
4 I know that the schools work with safe routes to
5 patrol those areas with the community patrols. So
6 the more people that step up and volunteer for those
7 programs, the safer our kids will be. Thank you.

8 COMMISSIONER BURCH: To D.C. Williams, I
9 just want to follow up on what you're saying about
10 the safety of the children. At one time it was
11 where block clubs, CB patrol helped -- helped the
12 officers to watch the children. Can you kind of go
13 back to that and encourage those neighbors and the
14 patrols, CB patrol, to go out?

15 And then I know D.C. Bettison is not
16 here. It's a lot of questions we can direct to him,
17 but he's not here, so I don't know if you can answer
18 them. As far as human trafficking, in the beginning
19 we had spoke about human trafficking. Commissioner
20 Elizabeth here was going to be with D.C. Bettison to
21 form some kind of committee to see how we could help
22 that issue. So would you check in to where he is
23 with the human trafficking because you see it all
24 the time on TV. It's happening.

25 ASSISTANT CHIEF WILLIAMS: Through the

1 chair, I'd like to call up Captain Jackson, if he's
2 prepared, to talk a little bit about what we're
3 doing for human trafficking. And then I'll follow
4 up with D.C. Bettison concerning the community.

5 CAPTAIN JACKSON: Good afternoon.
6 Captain Jackson.

7 MULTIPLE VOICES: Good afternoon.

8 CAPTAIN JACKSON: We began to -- through
9 D.C. Bettison began a staff of our personnel at
10 organized crime. We've increased our vice capacity
11 by eight members. We're going to ultimately end up
12 increasing it by 15 total. Those people are going
13 to be specifically focused on vice related -- excuse
14 me, human trafficking related activities. Currently
15 our vice intervention team is currently
16 investigating human trafficking, and we've had a
17 number of successes this year.

18 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Thank you.

19 CAPTAIN JACKSON: Yes, ma'am.

20 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Also, this is not to
21 the assistant chief, but in general probably to our
22 board secretary. And I think that it would be good
23 for the Board of Police Commissioners to be doing
24 some public service announcements and especially for
25 some of our young ladies on the board, all of the

1 young ladies on the board, to be involved in it. I
2 think that would help push our message out a little
3 bit more so.

4 SECRETARY HICKS: Thank you, Madam Chair.
5 Just in response to that, we actually currently have
6 a contractor that's going to the Detroit City
7 Council right now that will give us the capacity to
8 create the public service announcements, and I think
9 it's actually on their agenda. I know it was
10 introduced on their main agenda Tuesday. We then
11 referred them to a committee. We expect to go over
12 and entertain any questions which the committee
13 might have, and then I would think that we would
14 have the capacity to move into that immediately
15 after their approval which would occur with --
16 inside of the next couple weeks, I would think.

17 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Good.

18 COMMISSIONER BROOKS: I'm not sure if you
19 all know that there's a house called Peggy's House
20 that COTS has put together for victims of human
21 trafficking versus if you're picked up and you're
22 going to jail, when you come out, you have no place
23 to go, there is a house. I can bring more
24 information on it. But it's called Peggy's House,
25 and it's COTS.

1 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you,
2 Commissioner.

3 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Madam Chair, if
4 I could just add to that. There is an organization,
5 Alternatives for Girls, that also works very closely
6 with this issue and has for the last
7 twenty-something years, and they're located in
8 southwest Detroit, Michigan in the Grand Boulevard
9 area.

10 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you. Thank
11 you Assistant Chief Williams. At this time we'll
12 have our presentation from Ceasefire.

13 TRISHA STEIN: Good afternoon. As my
14 team assembles here, we brought the whole crew
15 today. Through the chair, Madam, again my name is
16 Trisha Stein. I am the director of administrative
17 operations here at DPD, and in that capacity I'm
18 also the director of Ceasefire Detroit. I want to
19 thank you all for giving us the opportunity to come
20 and talk about Ceasefire. It's a three-prong
21 approach. It's a coordinated effort of enforcement,
22 prevention, intervention, which also includes
23 re-entry efforts. As I said, you're going to hear
24 from the team to talk about each of those three
25 pieces. It's a balanced approach. As the chief

1 always says, we can't just arrest our way out of
2 this program. We really have to have a wraparound
3 approach. As the chairwoman said in her
4 introduction and reading through the agenda, it's an
5 evidence-based program. It uses a focused deterrent
6 strategy which works to break the group dynamics,
7 reduce gun violence and work as a collaboration
8 between law enforcement, community groups, social
9 service agencies and a faith-based component which
10 is very robust here in Detroit.

11 We're about keeping promises -- making
12 promises, keeping promises. We have goals of
13 reducing shootings, increasing job opportunities and
14 changing community norms. Our funding comes through
15 the city. We have an increased allocation that
16 will -- we participated as part of the city's new
17 initiatives. It was somewhat of a competitive
18 budget initiative that's this year, and so beginning
19 July 1 in the FY '18 allocation, '18-'19 allocation,
20 we'll have a little over \$800,000 that will be for
21 this balanced approach. In the past the city has
22 only funded efforts for enforcement, but they feel
23 that this is a strong data-driven approach to
24 reducing gun violence and helping our young adults.
25 So about 800,000 will go for the three prongs of

1 enforcement, prevention and intervention, and so
2 we're pretty excited about that added capacity.

3 We also have a DOJ grant that started in
4 2012, and that will run through the end of September
5 that is part of the Department of Justice suite, and
6 then we currently have a grant from Hudson-Webber.
7 So we constantly are out trying to add capacity so
8 that we can make sure that this is a robust program.

9 As the chair also said, we're in seven
10 precincts currently. It started over in 5 and 9 in
11 2013. The mayor and the chief, they had come in and
12 -- both the 2013 and 2014 and in 2015 they really
13 did a hard reset of the program and put their focus
14 on it. And so that was in 5 and 9. About a year
15 later, June 2016 we expanded to the west side, 6, 8
16 and 12. Just this January we expanded to 4 and 7
17 and the directive of this team, and the department
18 is we will expand citywide by the end of the year,
19 and so we'll start rolling in additional precincts.
20 The next precinct is precinct 11, and that will be
21 before the end of the summer. It will start in
22 July.

23 So I'm going to turn it over to
24 Quincy Smith, who is our community organizer, and he
25 leads off our prevention efforts and he'll tell you

1 a little bit about what we do there.

2 QUINCY SMITH: Thanks, good afternoon,
3 thank you all for the opportunity. Quincy Smith,
4 community organizer. My role and responsibility is
5 pretty much coordinate our outreach efforts and how
6 we engage with individuals who are responsible for a
7 lot of the shootings and nonfatalis in the Ceasefire
8 precincts. If I could real quick just introduce
9 some of our team who's in the room today. Bishop
10 Harris, our faith-based coordinator is here. He
11 does a phenomenal job with coordinating a lot of
12 support and outreach, and we have some inter-city
13 churches and suburban churches who are part of that
14 coalition, and Bishop Harris does a phenomenal job
15 coordinating that effort.

16 We have a resource counselor, he's a
17 social worker, handles all of our assessments,
18 that's Alvin Sims. We have two community resource
19 counselors, Mr. Riley Greer and Sherelle Hogan, if
20 they can please stand. We have two of our outreach
21 workers. These are boots on the ground, day-to-day,
22 face-to-face, actually engaging with that
23 population, and that's James Holmes and Mr. Don
24 Taylor. I'd like to call this group the dream team.
25 They make my job so much easier. Thank you guys.

1 So, this is how we engage. Number one,
2 promoting a conversation, focused on outreach
3 sessions. And we started an initiative just
4 recently called The Brotherhood, The Brotherhood:
5 No Boundaries. This was a youth summit that was
6 done earlier this month, May 9th, at Cobo Hall. We
7 invited 288 DPS students. We also added a couple of
8 charter schools. So we were real specific on what
9 kind of individual, what kind of male we wanted in
10 the room. These guys were pretty much responsible
11 for structuring school culture and climate, right.
12 So they, you know, can be your challengers, people
13 who have -- you know, young men who have discipline
14 issues, and then you have some individuals who are
15 leaders. But we wanted to bring them all in the
16 room together. And the reason why we named it The
17 Brotherhood: No Boundaries, because the message we
18 really wanted to get across was, it doesn't matter
19 what side of town you grew up in, it doesn't matter
20 what block, what neighborhood, I can still look at
21 you and call you my brother, I can still respect
22 you. And I think our speakers, the team who
23 coordinated it, did a phenomenal job of getting that
24 message across, and we really want to build that
25 out. And we've actually -- there's conversation

1 about us pushing it to our female side of our
2 outreach work called female formation. I mentioned
3 Sherelle Hogan, and she's just a dynamic individual
4 who is leading that effort for females. We want to
5 kind of mirror that same success we saw with the
6 youth summit and do the same thing with the females.
7 We started a Thursday, we call it, Talk
8 It Up Thursday, and this is something I think is
9 real innovative and very -- it's really on the
10 cutting edge when you talk about police-community
11 relations. This started with Sergeant Hillbilly out
12 of number 8, I'm sorry, out of Number 9, Sergeant
13 Dunning out of Number 8. A round-group discussion
14 of young men from the neighborhood coming to the
15 actual precinct and having a sit-down conversation
16 and talk about some of the challenges, the issues
17 that they're dealing with, and it's really -- it's
18 student led. We just kind of drive that
19 conversation, make sure that it's targeted and some
20 real sound advice is given. And so we've seen a lot
21 of success with that. We've been doing that for
22 about a month and a half now. That happens at the
23 9th Precinct. We're moving it to Helman starting --
24 really it's the Ford Resource and Engagement Center
25 right there on 7 Mile and Maddelien. We're starting

1 that actually tomorrow evening, so we're really
2 excited about that. We've got a group of about 30
3 boys who show up, and it's just a phenomenal time of
4 dialog and engagement. We're starting, What's Up
5 Wednesday, it's coming up May 30th, and that's going
6 to happen at the 8th Precinct. So you have
7 officers, you have community, and you have these
8 young men sitting around the table having meaningful
9 dialogue and address some of the issues that they're
10 having. So really excited about that.

11 Conducting custom notifications. This is
12 a joint effort with law enforcement. I'm sure a lot
13 of you guys have heard about our call-ins. The
14 call-in is a two-prong message, law enforcement
15 gives their spiel, we know who you are, we know what
16 kind of activity you're involved in. You know the
17 next body that drops, the next one who pulls a
18 trigger, we're coming at you with the full force of
19 the law. And then the community outreach and
20 resources, we come in and say, listen, we have help,
21 we have an option, we have something for you. If
22 you make the decision to put that gun down, we want
23 to be here for you, and that's what we do. When we
24 walk into the living room of a young man who has
25 been on law enforcement's radar, we give that

1 message right there in the living room, and it's
2 just such a powerful, powerful time. So we got a
3 lot of guys who enter into the Ceasefire program
4 just by doing custom notifications. So we've done
5 117 between 2017 and 2018.

6 We also respond to shooting scenes. So
7 if there's a shooting in a Ceasefire precinct, we
8 get a call from either gang intel or that precinct
9 where the shooting happened at. Our team shows up
10 and we kind of act as a liaison between community
11 and law enforcement to help de-escalate those
12 intense scenes. You know, things can kind of get
13 out of hand and our team is phenomenal. You know,
14 we've been to a shooting scene once on, we call it
15 the infamous Brace Street shooting, and you've got
16 tons of people out there and you've got fighting
17 going on. And to see our team come in and really
18 de-escalate that situation. And then you see Bishop
19 Harris come up and actually lead everybody in prayer
20 and all the intense and the passion, you see all
21 that come down, and it allows law enforcement to do
22 their job and finish their investigation. So we
23 respond to those shooting scenes that happen inside
24 the Ceasefire precincts.

25 With the clergy coalition we conduct

1 candlelight vigils, which happens, you know, when we
2 get a homicide, a young man has lost his life, a
3 young lady has lost their life. We come in, we do a
4 candlelight vigil, provide that support for the
5 family to make sure we're real visible and provide
6 assistance for the family that is hurting. And then
7 we do peace walks, and that's coordinated through
8 the clergy coalition, through Bishop Harris, and
9 that happens every other Friday. And our outreach
10 team is really involved with that.

11 So I want to introduce now Mr. Keith
12 Bennett. He's going to talk about our service
13 provider initiative. Oh, yes, so these are some of
14 our images from -- oh, sorry about that -- from the
15 Brotherhood event. We got a whole lot of images
16 out. We could have added a lot more, but this is
17 our flier for Talk It Up Thursdays that's happening
18 at the Ford Resource and Engagement Center tomorrow
19 evening.

20 KEITH BENNETT: Good afternoon. For
21 years, I've been around this city a long time, I've
22 heard that it takes a village. Under this
23 initiative was the first time that I've seen it and
24 I could feel it and the community can see it. So as
25 a service provider, Flip the Script and it's been in

1 the community for 15 years now and it's part of the
2 Goodwill Industries that's been in the community for
3 a hundred years. We are proud to be a part of this
4 initiative to be walking alongside of law
5 enforcement and other community providers,
6 faith-based is powerful. I wouldn't be here if it
7 wasn't.

8 Flip the Script has played the catalyst
9 or we are the centerpiece of all the organizations
10 you see listed, and there are others who are a part
11 of this, as well. And as you can see we provide
12 education and GED. We make promises and the police
13 officers or law enforcement make promises. They
14 need somebody to make sure that that happens. They
15 need somebody to make sure that we hit home runs
16 with these young men real quick and in a hurry or it
17 could cost a life. So these are some of the
18 services that we provide through, not just Flip the
19 Script, but through all of the organizations you
20 see.

21 I'd like to point out just a few.
22 Housing is important because a lot of times for a
23 young man to leave violence, he has to move, he has
24 to relocate, and he needs to take his family with
25 him. He needs to make sure they're safe. We have

1 moved numerous people from one side of town to the
2 other side of town, early in the morning, late at
3 night, in the middle of the night, to hotels, motels
4 and then, finally relocating them. And I have to
5 put my hats off to Quincy and his team and Bishop
6 Harris because a lot of times when the old guy is in
7 bed, they making that happen, and so that's very
8 important.

9 Driver's license and ID, you all know the
10 issue we have with driving dirty in our city. A lot
11 of the guys think that is a right of passage, and
12 we've been changing culture and mindsets and getting
13 them to understand. It used to be a right of
14 passage to get your driver's license, so now they're
15 being taught that.

16 Job training, Quincy and I just left the
17 office about an hour and a half ago with two young
18 men who were gang leaders at this time last year or
19 the year before last. One has had so many jobs, now
20 he told me that he has two or three. The other one
21 we have kept off the streets for two years, two and
22 a half years keeping him employed, keeping him in
23 housing and things of that nature, and today they
24 let me know it's time to start dreaming again,
25 Mr. Bennett, it's time for us to dream. And so they

1 were our nightmares just a couple of years ago on
2 the city streets. And so tattoo removal,
3 mentorship, and a lot of that is provided by the
4 Ceasefire team. There's also people in the
5 community have adopted these young men.

6 Flip the Script, what we provide is a
7 neutral site. We're in the North End Center at East
8 Grand Boulevard and 75, so a lot of people don't see
9 that as east, some don't see it as west. But the
10 gang members and people on the street, our young
11 people see it as neutral ground. You don't go
12 there, you don't act out, you don't do anything. As
13 a matter of fact, you sit with a person that would
14 have been your rival just a day earlier, and that
15 way we can bring them together to start looking at
16 each other as human beings.

17 I have to take my hats off to the police
18 department. They have sent their rookies over to
19 spend an entire day with these guys just sitting in
20 a classroom talking in dialogue. They've also been
21 in the parking lot having relay races with gang
22 members and things of that nature. And it opened my
23 eyes up, and so there's a lot that you don't know
24 about Ceasefire, but it is beyond basic needs. We
25 are meeting people's human needs. And everybody you

1 see listed here have not just given our services.

2 We are giving our hearts to these young men.

3 Getting them to work, getting young
4 people to work who are not prepared to work, getting
5 young people to work who have no work ethic and on
6 their blocks they don't see it anywhere, it's been a
7 major challenge; but as a team we have done that.
8 We have created 36 jobs for Ceasefire clients.
9 These are not regular individuals. These are known,
10 former and sometimes current gang members that have
11 one foot in each side, and so that has happened. We
12 have given at least -- 68 people have gotten
13 services that really met their needs. We have
14 delivered diapers at 4 and 3 o'clock in the morning
15 to gang members because if they don't get those
16 diapers, they'll go out and do what we call hit a
17 lick. And so what we've said is you don't need to
18 do that, there's someone in the community that cares
19 about your child or your baby, and we will make sure
20 that that need is met.

21 GED and high school, Flip the Script has
22 an education recovery center. GED is offered 9 to 6
23 Monday through Friday, every other Saturdays for
24 those guys we put to work. And I was happy to see
25 that by the time I left we had two more individuals

1 that had gotten their GED, these are former gang
2 members who hadn't sat in a classroom for probably
3 12 years. And a number of the them have passed four
4 out of five tests. The last hurdle was math, and
5 that's what we're trying to get them over. The fact
6 is that they know they can do it now. They're going
7 to get it.

8 A driver's license, we mentioned that,
9 and a number of them have gotten state ID. We help
10 them take road tests, we help them go to driving
11 school, whatever it takes to get them to start
12 driving legal and appreciate the process of
13 following the law, we're doing that. And sometimes
14 they're the first legal driver in their household in
15 two or three generations.

16 We have helped a number of individuals
17 get in housing, just speaking to a gentleman today
18 about that. We will house them as long as they're
19 staying off the street and not pulling that trigger.
20 You know, this is a program that doesn't believe in
21 conditional love. It has to be unconditional. And
22 so what we try to do is always meet them where they
23 are. Again we've had call-ins and our recidivism
24 rate is phenomenal, even the ones that have fallen
25 off now are calling us, sending us letters and

1 saying I wish I had listened to you, and that means
2 a lot that they're finally getting the message.

3 QUINCY SMITH: Captain Jackson is going
4 to come up and talk about that recidivism rate, but
5 I want to give a quick caveat. So our success rate
6 is now predicated based upon whether folks receive
7 services. We want to make sure folks aren't
8 re-offending, we want to make -- that keep that
9 recidivism rate low. You know, guys come in, they
10 may not accept the service, they may not say, well,
11 I'm good, I don't need a driver's license or I don't
12 need this, but as long as you're putting that gun
13 down, that's what matters to us. So I think that
14 message is getting across and Captain Jackson will
15 speak about that a little bit more.

16 CAPTAIN JACKSON: First, I'd like to
17 bring up my partner in crime, Commander Nicholas
18 Giaquinto from organized crime. The most important
19 thing related to the recidivism rate for us is the
20 fact that only 10 percent of those people who repeat
21 are involved in gun crime. Our role in this
22 partnership is that we're the promise keepers, we're
23 law enforcement. We're the ones that represent the
24 outrage from the community as it relates to gun
25 violence. And so as we try to extend services and

1 be accessible in the community, along with our
2 faith-based and outreach partners, we're also the
3 ones that hold them accountable to society if they
4 decide not to comply. A lot of that is done -- it's
5 real deliberate. What we try to do is make sure
6 that we're no longer blanketing enforcement over our
7 communities just to have law enforcement visibility
8 and presence and end up -- ultimately end up
9 targeting people who haven't committed crimes.
10 We're real specific with the intelligence. We have
11 a research partner at Michigan State University that
12 looks at every gun crime that occurs in the city of
13 Detroit, and we sit down there and we analyze that
14 data that we've seen and utilize that data for -- on
15 Monday, and we synthesize it into meetings with
16 boots on the ground, people who are actually at the
17 precinct in the investigative levels specializing in
18 things like homicides, KATS, narcotics and gang
19 intelligence. And we sit there and we have real
20 dialogue about who are the individuals who are
21 driving violence, and we specifically target those
22 along with all of our federal partners. And then we
23 come in on Thursday and have a higher level briefing
24 along with our strategic partners.

25 COMMANDER GIAQUINTO: So I'm the new guy

1 to the team. Most of this work was already put in
2 place many years ago.

3 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Give your name for
4 the record.

5 COMMANDER GIAQUINTO: Nick Giaquinto,
6 Commander of Organized Crime. So I was originally
7 part of the statement of the problem in identifying
8 the need for the Ceasefire program to be brought
9 into the city of Detroit. It is and has exceeded
10 the expectations of that early infancy stages when
11 the grant was first written. The number of man
12 hours that are invested, personnel, staffing hours,
13 to this program are incredible, being the new person
14 stepping in. I come from a technology background
15 and hopefully we'll see some new things take place,
16 some additional intervention points, with regards to
17 some of the technology that the Detroit Police
18 Department has brought in. But really I am here
19 helping Captain Cox who has shouldered most of the
20 responsibility for this, and Director Stein who has
21 with her presence --

22 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Did you say Captain
23 Cox?

24 COMMANDER GIAQUINTO: Rodney -- So I got
25 two Rodneys in my life, Rodney Cox from my former

1 life and Rodney Jackson from my current life and my
2 life in homicide. So let's fix that. But, you
3 know, Captain Jackson and I, we go back a long, long
4 way. So I'm excited to be here. But to be quite
5 honest, the work that is being done has been done by
6 the individuals that you see behind you. I hope to
7 bring some of my abilities to help improve in
8 enhanced capacities and identify additional
9 intervention points for the team. But the work has
10 been done by them.

11 CAPTAIN JACKSON: And I guess I'll close
12 it out with the data that's already been revealed.
13 In 2016 we had 305 homicides, and in 2017 year end,
14 we ended up with 267 homicides. That's a real
15 significant reduction. That was some of the lowest
16 homicide rates that we experienced in -- since 1967.
17 The unfortunate part about that is, you know, there
18 are some arrests involved in that. We had over 1900
19 targeted arrests throughout our entire partnership.
20 That's all of the members of the Detroit Police
21 Department as well as, you know, our federal, state
22 and other local municipalities that assist us. We
23 specifically respond to gang or group violence by
24 rapidly responding to that within 24 hours. And so
25 in the year 2017 we had over 88 of those responses.

1 The U.S. Attorney's office along with some of our
2 other federal agencies have come to our assistance
3 and indicted over 59 gang members, people who were
4 engaged as groups in criminal enterprises. And so
5 we've experienced some significant success in 2017.
6 I think that that's what you're witnessing in crime
7 reduction, overall crime reduction. Thank you.

8 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you.
9 Commissioner, did you have any questions?

10 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Thank you, Madam
11 Chair. I have quite a few. So you can get ready
12 back there because they're with me because I
13 represent the 3rd District, okay. The 3rd District
14 and 11th Precinct, it's also where I live, so I'm
15 very concerned. Is the Ceasefire in the 11th
16 Precinct?

17 TRISHA STEIN: I can take that through
18 the chair, ma'am. The 11th Precinct, as I said in
19 my opening today, is the next precinct to come on
20 line. It will come on line, starting in July. By
21 the end of the summer, we will be fully operational.

22 COMMISSIONER BURCH: I did hear that,
23 okay, that's not the issue. I want to ask you this:
24 When you spoke about church involvement, how do you
25 go about selecting these churches, because there's a

1 church in the 11th precinct, through the police
2 department, they gather up these children every
3 Friday and they do a program. Are you aware of that
4 in the 11th Precinct?

5 TRISHA STEIN: So, I'm sure our
6 faith-based coordinator is a hundred percent on top
7 of it, and that's why we're all here today --

8 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Who can answer that,
9 then?

10 BISHOP HARRIS: My name is Bishop Daryl
11 Harris.

12 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Hi.

13 BISHOP HARRIS: Hi. I am aware of that
14 program. As a matter of fact, along with the 5th
15 precinct we've been in partnership with in
16 determining what we now call our community police
17 relations. That is an extension to what is
18 happening with the Talk It Up Thursdays. As a
19 matter of fact we proceeded to Talk It Up Thursdays
20 at the 5th Precinct, and since then we've been at
21 the 7th, we've been at the 11th and we've been
22 around. So these are events that are hosted largely
23 by the commander. We bring in someone from
24 restorative practices and myself, and we bring in
25 mostly residents who have had an issue in the past

1 through the Board of Police Commissioners with
2 officers in that particular precinct. We bring them
3 in with the officers, we do restorative practices,
4 we do some games, and we do other things to try to
5 lessen the tension and then begin some dialog
6 between the two so that there is some understanding.
7 And so we are on top of that factor, and we're
8 looking to even roll out even the more as the year
9 progresses.

10 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Okay. All this
11 comes in, thank you for that. The juvenile
12 detention, you know about that, right?

13 BISHOP HARRIS: Yes, ma'am.

14 COMMISSIONER BURCH: The juvenile
15 detention seems to have a revolving door. I want to
16 know, does Ceasefire deal with these children that
17 keep on going back and forth into detention? What
18 are you doing also about the attitude of some police
19 officers abuse their power, as we know and read it
20 in the paper all the time. I'm not here abusing
21 them. I'm just saying what are you doing to the
22 young boys of minority to say, how do I answer to a
23 police officer? How am I supposed to be approached?

24 CAPTAIN JACKSON: Yes, ma'am. Some of
25 the practices that we have going on currently are

1 with the 9th precinct and the 8th precinct as
2 pilots, Talk It Up Wednesday and Thursday. A lot of
3 that was based on response to youth interaction that
4 was going on in the school, specifically with law
5 enforcement. We realize it was our responsibility
6 to not only enter their environment, but to also
7 have them come to our environment so that we could
8 teach them and learn from them on what their
9 expectation is, what they need from us. I think
10 that a lot of that is what caused the summit action.
11 And so it's that dialogue and that engagement that's
12 allowing us to advance that understanding between
13 the two. Because a lot of it isn't more or less
14 police, it's more generational now, so it's helping
15 them understand. And as it relates to the juveniles
16 that we have that are continuously in and out of the
17 system, we're working in conjunction with Wayne
18 County Prosecutor's Office and Lincoln Hall of
19 Justice in setting up a juvenile call-in. There are
20 a lot of different dynamics to that so we're
21 learning our way through it, but that's in the
22 process right now.

23 COMMISSIONER BURCH: All right, thank
24 you. I want you to please, just for me, pay more
25 attention to Number 11, make sure that you are

1 involved with what the good things they are doing.

2 Because I hear so much about 9, 7, other precincts.

3 CAPTAIN JACKSON: Yes, ma'am.

4 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Don't leave out 11.

5 CAPTAIN JACKSON: No, ma'am, not at all.

6 COMMISSIONER BURCH: All right.

7 CAPTAIN JACKSON: That's specifically why
8 we decided to move to Number 11 next because we did
9 identify that there were a lot of things that they
10 were doing innovative that we needed to be a part
11 of. But also there are some things that we need to
12 add to them to support them.

13 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Yes, thank you.

14 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Mr. Davis.

15 BISHOP HARRIS: In extension to that, I'm
16 so sorry, but I just wanted to say also that the
17 faith-based coalition is an extension to Ceasefire.
18 So even though they may not be necessarily directly
19 involved right now at the 11th, the faith-based
20 coalition is working in that entire area, because 11
21 is considered the tip-in of the Osborne community.

22 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Thank you for that.

23 Because as Cedric Wyckoff and Chaplain Bailey,
24 they're the ones that run that program, and when you
25 call them -- whatever you call some kind of walk, we

1 have a faith walk, you know about that?

2 BISHOP HARRIS: Yes.

3 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Okay. Why don't you
4 speak up and tell the people?

5 BISHOP HARRIS: Oh, yes ma'am, I've been
6 there, I've actually been a part of those walks,
7 especially the one that was at Second Ebenezer not
8 too long ago.

9 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Question, do y'all
10 anticipate when y'all go citywide to have the
11 resources to continue doing what sounds like an
12 excellent job you're doing in the targeted
13 precincts?

14 TRISHA STEIN: Yes, through the chair.
15 That's part of the city's new initiative that we
16 took part of without the additional dollars. So it
17 will sustain current operations and then be able to
18 add on additional, not only from an enforcement
19 standpoint so there are additional officers, the
20 mayor talked about that in his budget announcement
21 as additional officers dedicated to Ceasefire, but
22 then also to be able to add to our outreach and
23 support efforts, as well. But we always need money.
24 So we're always looking in that capacity.

25 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Commissioner

1 Dewaelsche.

2 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Yes, thank you,
3 Madam Chair. I just have a question with regard to
4 the chart that spoke about call-in attendees. Could
5 you explain what that is as far as call-in
6 attendees?

7 QUINCY SMITH: Call-in attendees, so
8 these are young men who are court ordered to appear.
9 A call-in is a community event, it's really our
10 premier event, and they hear a powerful message;
11 They hear from our mayor, they hear from our chief,
12 they hear from Kym Worthy, Prosecutor Kym Worthy.
13 They hear from the U.S. prosecuting attorney, and
14 they hear from Captain Jackson from gang intel. And
15 that message is real clear, that I kind of mentioned
16 earlier, we know what you've been doing. We know
17 where you hang out at. We know what group or gang
18 you're a part of. We know everything about you, and
19 there's a full presentation that's given. And that
20 message from law enforcement just simply says if you
21 continue, we are coming at you with our full law
22 enforcement partnership. And then the other side of
23 that message, Mr. Bennett, Keith Bennett does a
24 phenomenal job of letting them know what services
25 are available. And so after that, the young men

1 either take us up on that offer or they take up law
2 enforcement on their own.

3 COMMISSIONER DEWAEELSCHÉ: Okay, you know
4 I did hear that presentation, and I'm sorry that
5 you're repeating it again because I did hear that.
6 But I guess when I saw call-in attendees I thought
7 that they would call in to get some kind of service.
8 But what you mean is they're in person.

9 QUINCY SMITH: They're in person.

10 COMMISSIONER DEWAEELSCHÉ: And they're
11 watching a presentation?

12 QUINCY SMITH: Yes.

13 COMMISSIONER DEWAEELSCHÉ: A video or
14 something?

15 QUINCY SMITH: It's not a video. It's a
16 Power Point presentation.

17 COMMISSIONER DEWAEELSCHÉ: Oh, okay, all
18 right. I just misunderstood the call-in.

19 QUINCY SMITH: So the call-in, the name
20 call-in, it really just comes from the national
21 model. Other cities -- yeah, they're called in to
22 attend that.

23 COMMISSIONER DEWAEELSCHÉ: Okay, but
24 they're there in person.

25 QUINCY SMITH: They're there in person.

1 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Okay, receiving
2 the service of the --

3 QUINCY SMITH: Yes, ma'am. Yes, ma'am.

4 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Okay. Thank
5 you for that clarification.

6 TRISHA STEIN: Through the chair, this
7 would be a great time to tell you all, and I know we
8 usually communicate it through the office, but our
9 next call-in is June 21st, so more details to come,
10 but they're usually at 6 o'clock in the evening, so
11 more details to come. But our next call-in, and the
12 board is always welcome. I know we have seen
13 Commissioner Bell there, a number of them, but it is
14 June 21st.

15 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Where?

16 TRISHA STEIN: More details to come.
17 We're working that out. I wasn't being coy, but
18 it's with all the principals that -- attendees that
19 Quincy just mentioned, it's pretty hard to get the
20 dates. We got the date and next to come is the
21 location.

22 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you.

23 DEPUTY CHIEF BARREN: Through the Chair.
24 Deputy Chief Barren in for A.C. Williams. Just want
25 to expound on just a couple things real quickly.

1 Director Stein mentioned hard reset of the programs
2 they're undertaking with the chief and mayor. I
3 want to talk about that very briefly. What that
4 hard reset meant was leadership, management,
5 technology and community, as you see community
6 involvement, where these individuals were placed
7 into this program. And it has taken this program to
8 the next level. When we talk about 77 fewer nonfatal
9 shootings as compared to last year, significant
10 arrests were made. And, as we also want to speak
11 about successes, significant numbers of individuals'
12 lives were turned around from their lifestyle
13 through our community and our outreach programs,
14 which have made those impacts. I just want to just
15 expound on that.

16 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you, sir.

17 BISHOP HARRIS: And if I could, Madam
18 Chair, I want you to also know that it has taken
19 that hard reset to turn this into the national model
20 for Ceasefire. Just the other day, last week
21 Thursday, I was called to South Bend, where I met --
22 South Bend, Indiana, where I met the mayor of South
23 Bend who wanted to call here to commend us for what
24 we were doing; because they're really interested in
25 expanding the work there to the Ceasefire model, and

1 that's because of the job of people who are in this
2 room and just taking it to that next place. So
3 we're very proud to be a part of that reset and to
4 see how it's working.

5 COMMISSIONER BELL: Madam Chair, I just
6 want to say briefly that our new commissioner really
7 need to witness this, and they can get an idea.
8 This is a core effort in reference to all these
9 parties here, so you really have to witness this to
10 really appreciate it, and I know you have. But I
11 think you really need to put it on your schedule to
12 attend one in the near, near future and then you can
13 appreciate the effort to address these concerns that
14 we deal with daily. So I just want to commend you
15 once again for outstanding because the most
16 endangered species is not in the zoo, it's the
17 African-American male in the United States of
18 America. So, thank you.

19 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you,
20 Commissioner. Any other questions, comments,
21 commissioners? Thank you all, the whole team --

22 TRISHA STEIN: The whole team came today,
23 ma'am.

24 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: -- for a phenomenal
25 job and keep up the good work. Thank you.

1 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Great
2 presentation. Thank you so much.

3 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Commissioners, at
4 this time, any standing or ad hoc committee reports,
5 committee reports? We'll have the report from the
6 board secretary.

7 SECRETARY HICKS: Thank you, Madam Chair.
8 Something I want to call your attention to, a couple
9 items that are listed on the agenda. As indicated
10 earlier, there is a request for a change of duty
11 status for Lieutenant Timothy Leach. That
12 information was received in the office about midday
13 today, and typically when we receive that
14 information, we immediately transmit a copy of the
15 chief's interoffice memo to your attention. That
16 will be transmitted to you on this evening.
17 Secondly, in your packet, the letter that we
18 referred to with the assessor -- the assessor's
19 letter is actually not in the packet itself. What
20 is in the packet is a confidential form. This is
21 the form in which they're asking for commercial
22 property owners to return to the city. So minus the
23 letter, which I will send out to you electronically
24 just so you can see the setup of the letter and what
25 it called for, this is the actual item in which

1 commercial property owners should be returning by
2 the June deadline. And it asks basic information
3 from the commercial property owner.

4 And then the last thing, of course, is
5 that what we tend to do is try and collect up
6 several articles that may be of interest to the
7 board. And although it is not listed in here, but
8 I did notice today just prior to coming down, there
9 was a reissuing of a letter -- I mean of a report on
10 the financial history of the City of Detroit, and I
11 think it's actually going to be in this week's --
12 weekend's publication. If you recall, this is an
13 in-depth series, it talked about the role of varying
14 mayors over time, the bankruptcy and things of that
15 nature, and it probably has some updating, although
16 I have not made it through the entire article. I do
17 want to just call your attention and for anyone who
18 is listening, of course, let them know that when a
19 significant article like that appears in our local
20 press, to avail themselves of that.

21 Having said that, Commissioner, that is
22 all that I wanted to report on today, unless you
23 have some questions of our office.

24 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Commissioner
25 Dewaelsche.

1 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Yes, Madam
2 Chair, with regard to the letter that was sent out
3 accidentally on our letterhead. First of all, I
4 don't understand how that could happen, number one.
5 And then how is that being corrected? Are we just
6 going to not do anything, or is there an attempt to
7 send out a corrected letter saying, you know,
8 because people who received it are going to think
9 unless we correct it, that we're responsible for
10 that, you know, business activity, which we are not.
11 It doesn't fall under our jurisdiction. So can
12 we -- are we going to correct that?

13 SECRETARY HICKS: Well, the first step of
14 the correction is why we included in the
15 chairperson's notes today a description of what the
16 situation is, so that you can say not only the
17 people in attendance but people who watch the
18 broadcast that; number one, it was not the board of
19 police commissioners that sent that information out.
20 This information, it comes through a mass mailer.
21 This is a third-party contract which the city will
22 have with the mailing company, and they will send
23 essentially a file. And that mailing company
24 essentially matches up, because it will have any
25 number of city jobs on the floor there. They'll

1 match up this. They made an error because it said
2 Detroit and then it went on, they did not -- their
3 computers or the persons did not see the next
4 string, and so our letterhead in some way gets
5 loaded in or reproduced in that. It was a little
6 surprising to us because we didn't know that that
7 particular vendor had a copy of our letterhead.

8 We have been in contact with the
9 assessor's office, and I think we've been in
10 dialogue with them for better than a week now to let
11 them know that, number one, the problem exists. We
12 got some sense from them of how massive the problem
13 was, and it's not a massive one, but it does -- it
14 does hit in some isolated areas. But for the
15 vehicles in which we can use to make the correction,
16 we wanted to do that on -- in meetings like this,
17 and then the assessor's office is making corrections
18 again themselves.

19 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Madam Chair, so
20 if this error was conducted by the vendor, there
21 should be no cost to the City for that error and,
22 therefore, we should demand that it be corrected
23 because it was their error and it should be
24 corrected quickly. I'm surprised that you haven't
25 received calls from businesses, and you probably

1 will as the deadline, you know, comes closer, you're
2 going to start receiving calls. So we just need to
3 correct it and if I need to make a motion or
4 whatever it is.

5 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Madam Chair, that
6 came through my email, again I represent 3rd
7 District, 11th Precinct. Many of the business
8 people know my organization, so I get a lot of
9 feedback of what goes on that's either right or
10 wrong. So this letter did come to my attention,
11 which I immediately sent it to our secretary,
12 Ms. Theresa Blossom, so that she would be aware it
13 was sent. So like you're saying, Ms. Eva, it should
14 be corrected, I don't know what you all are going to
15 do, but that was wrong to send it on the letterhead
16 of the commissioners.

17 SECRETARY HICKS: Madam Chair, just as a
18 quick follow-up, as I said, we've been in contact
19 with the assessor's office, and the assessor's
20 office is making the correction. They are the
21 entity that would authorize a reproduction of the
22 communications, and that would correct whatever list
23 problem that they might have in connection with
24 that. And they're working on that. We will follow
25 up with them to make sure that we have information

1 to advise you on in terms of where it is and so
2 forth.

3 I should note that we received, really,
4 information from this in a number of different ways
5 or a variety of people, and that's when we got a
6 sense of how enormous of a concern it was. We've
7 actually even received a copy of two -- of the
8 confidential letter or the response that -- from the
9 commercial property owners who have sent it to us.
10 We have -- we're collecting those up and we're
11 making sure that we get them over to the assessor's
12 office in advance of the deadline so that that
13 person doesn't have to reissue that information. So
14 again, we're trying our best to stay on top of it.
15 We'll -- as we roll forward, what we'll do is
16 continue to provide you with information in terms of
17 corrective measures in which the assessor's office
18 is taking.

19 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you,
20 Mr. Hicks. Commissioners, any old business? New
21 business?

22 Under announcements, our next meeting
23 will be Thursday, May 31, 2018 at 3 P.M. here at the
24 Detroit Public Safety Headquarters located at 1301
25 Third Street. Our next community meeting will be

1 Thursday, June 14th at 6:30 P.M. in the 2nd Precinct
2 at the Adams Butzel Recreation Center located at
3 10500 Lyndon.

4 At this time we'll have oral
5 communication from the audience. Please give your
6 name for the record and limit your comments to two
7 minutes please.

8 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Madam Chair, I'm
9 sorry, may I speak one minute?

10 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Sure.

11 COMMISSIONER BURCH: I just wanted to
12 thank everybody. There was an event in the 11th
13 Precinct, 3rd District on Saturday, a salute to
14 fallen police officers. It was very successful. We
15 just want to always keep them in prayer, always
16 knowing that they're not alone and that we care
17 about them. So the event Saturday in that little
18 park was very successful. I thank Commissioner
19 Brooks for coming out and so many others, Sergeant
20 McCallister, so I just want to thank everybody for
21 attending that event. Thank you.

22 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: You can call the
23 speakers.

24 MR. BROWN: Madam Chair, I currently have
25 four cards. Your first speaker will be Ms. Faith

1 followed by Ms. Bernice Smith.

2 MS. FAITH: Well, my name is Ms. Faith
3 for the record. Through the chair, I'm never
4 disappointed every time I come. It's always
5 positive, something coming from each one of you
6 interacting with everyone that comes up here to the
7 podium to speak on anything that is presented and
8 pertaining to the different districts and the
9 precincts and whatever is going on in the DPD and
10 the headquarters.

11 I know that there are different --
12 nobody's a hundred percent perfect. There's going
13 to be some faults, there's going to be some
14 failures, but there always are astounding things
15 that I hear every week that I come that are being
16 done and said and the interaction between different
17 ones that are speaking and making presentations.
18 And my prayers go out to the fallen heroes, as well
19 and their families.

20 I have some different things that I want
21 to talk with y'all about. I guess I didn't know
22 that the Ceasefire was doing a lot of things that
23 I've been thinking about and talking with y'all
24 about. I'm very astounded about those things. I'm
25 appreciative of DPD and the things that I did not

1 know were going on to help the citizens and their
2 families. Keep up the good work. You're doing a
3 fine job. And there's other things that I noticed
4 that are human, we'll continue to pray for those.
5 Y'all are doing a fine job and there's great things
6 that I see. Continue to do so, and I strongly
7 appreciate y'all for what I do see. I always want
8 to magnify the good and y'all taking care of the
9 other things I can't do anything about. But you are
10 upstanding folks all the time I see you. Continue
11 to do a good job, well done. Thank you.

12 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thanks.

13 MR. BROWN: Ms. Smith followed by
14 Mr. Eric Blunt.

15 MS. SMITH: Marie Smith. Good afternoon,
16 Chief, to the commission. The city has been in a
17 turmoil for the last several weeks with crime going
18 rampant, and I just thought I'd bring it to your
19 attention, sir, several things that I was concerned
20 about, and we spoke about it at a meeting earlier
21 this morning. We had 5 o'clock this morning, as we
22 looked at the TV, there were two young men that were
23 killed. They had a dispute over a woman and
24 ex-boyfriend and a boyfriend, so now they're both
25 dead.

1 Then we have -- we have the
2 three-year-old boy that was killed -- was shot
3 rather, and then he later died the other day. He
4 was in Rouge and now we would like to notify the
5 police department, all officers, in regards to them
6 having a part-time job. We don't want to see this
7 anymore in the news. And the thing that I'm
8 concerned about, last week, Commissioner Bell, you
9 mentioned the fact that you and Lisa were going to
10 take care of the towing situation. But I feel as
11 though that you should have other commissioners on
12 that particular project also, because they need to
13 know about what the towing lease is because of the
14 fact that it's so many towing companies that are
15 going out of business. So I wish you would consider
16 that, you've got Burch there and you've got Davis
17 and then you have Burton. And so I think they would
18 be interested in being on the board also, not just
19 two of you because we would like their input on it
20 also.

21 And then now the police, you know,
22 there's so many young ladies that are being harassed
23 going to school, and we do need to have more patrol
24 so it can protect them because a lot of times the
25 parents are not going to school, you know,

1 accompanying them to school. So with me being a
2 mother, and I used to take mine to school, so I know
3 what it is to be out there, but of course that was a
4 long time ago. But the fact is, this is a new era,
5 and we've got a lot of rapists out here and they
6 need to be stopped. And I hope that the police will
7 take that into consideration and have more of the
8 patrol in the areas. I thank you for your time.

9 MR. BROWN: Mr. Eric Blunt followed by
10 Ms. Crystal Fields.

11 MR. BLUNT: Good afternoon, board.

12 THE BOARD: Good afternoon.

13 MR. BLUNT: For the record my name is
14 Eric Blunt, and I'm a life-long Detroiter. I'm very
15 hopeful by what I see in the Ceasefire program. But
16 a part of me wonders that there just seems to be a
17 component of it, you know, that talks about just put
18 the gun down. I just -- it bothers me whenever I
19 hear or see things that even slightly indicate that,
20 you know, black people are inherently criminal.
21 That just reeks of institutional racism. And I know
22 there's various aspects of it, but as they seek
23 jobs, I'd like for them to also support the effort
24 for D15, that's making the minimum wage at least \$15
25 an hour so that people can afford to raise their

1 families.

2 Along with this Ceasefire, and it's --
3 I'd like to say -- I'd like to see it addressed
4 institutional racism as well because of two recent
5 incidents here in the city. One, I believe the
6 young black man has actually died from his gunshots
7 from the gas station attendant, and then another one
8 from a Coney Island worker. It's hard to ask young
9 black men to put their guns down when they are being
10 gunned down in so many ways and no one really seems
11 to care or do anything about it. And I say that
12 because one of the officers at the -- I believe it
13 was the gas station, just to me blindly said, "We
14 have such great race relations here in Detroit," and
15 I just find that hard to believe and I don't think
16 there's any evidence of it. That's all I have to
17 say. Thank you.

18 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you.

19 MR. BROWN: Ms. Crystal Fields.

20 MS. FIELDS: Good afternoon, my name is
21 Crystal Fields and I'm with Jefferson East,
22 Incorporated.

23 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Good afternoon.

24 MS. FIELDS: Thank you, and thank you for
25 your service.

1 I just brought something with me today
2 that I want to share with you and share a little
3 later perhaps off line, anyone who is interested.
4 Jefferson East has a relationship with the City of
5 Detroit, and the Detroit Planning Department asked
6 us to help them with public engagement in regards to
7 all the changes that you're going to see on
8 Jefferson Avenue. This is going to affect public
9 safety dramatically. It's not just that the bike
10 lanes will be installed. It's also that eventually
11 they're going to have to dig up the street, tear up
12 everything and install new sewer lines. So in the
13 interim, they do have some things that they want to
14 share with the public, and Jefferson East is
15 assisting the planning department with public
16 engagement. And so I have with me today for your
17 edification some things that you could share with
18 your constituents. I have a bunch of the fliers,
19 and I also brought some of the posters that if you
20 think that you have businesses in your district or
21 other constituents who would want fliers or posters,
22 I wanted to share that with you. So that's really
23 why I came today, just to let you know that I have
24 those with me today and I can share them through
25 your staff.

1 I also have something, just want to alert
2 you that homeland security is doing a Detroit
3 corporate security symposium, and it's June 13th at
4 Little Caesars Arena. And it's the Detroit
5 corporate security symposium. It is open to
6 personnel in the private sector, state and local
7 government, as well as personnel supporting the
8 homeland security mission. If you're interested in
9 attending, I have some of the fliers which I will
10 also leave, you know, for you with your staff.
11 Thank you.

12 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Thank you,
13 Ms. Fields. Great information.

14 MR. BROWN: Madam Chair, that was your
15 last speaker.

16 COMMISSIONER BELL: Madam Chair, I think
17 that we would be remiss if we did not mention
18 Memorial Day, which is a national holiday this
19 coming Monday and declaration day where we lift up,
20 remember those who have made the supreme sacrifice
21 serving in armed forces since the day one. I think
22 I would ask for before adjournment that we have a
23 moment of silence for those that we must honor.
24 That's why we're sitting here, because they made the
25 supreme sacrifice, Madam Chair.

1 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: We'll have a moment
2 of silence in honor of those remembered on Memorial
3 Day. Thank you.

4 (Moment of silence)

5 COMMISSIONER BELL: Madam Chair, if no
6 other business for this body, I move for
7 adjournment.

8 MULTIPLE VOICES: Support.

9 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: Moved and supported
10 that we adjourned. All those in favor.

11 MULTIPLE VOICES: Aye.

12 CHAIRPERSON CARTER: All those opposed?
13 Motion carries. Enjoy the rest of your week. Thank
14 you all for coming.

15 (Hearing concluded about 4:37 P.M.)

16 — — —

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

1 CERTIFICATE OF NOTARY PUBLIC - COURT REPORTER

2 I do certify that the attached
3 proceedings were taken before me in the
4 above-entitled matter; that the witnesses were first
5 sworn to testify the truth; that the testimony
6 contained herein was by me reduced to writing in the
7 presence of the witness by means of stenography, and
8 afterwards transcribed upon a computer. The
9 attached pages are a true and complete transcript of
10 the testimony and proceedings.

11 I do further certify that I am not
12 connected by blood or marriage with any of the
13 parties, their attorneys or agents, and that I am
14 not an employee of either of them, nor interested,
15 directly or indirectly, in the matter of
16 controversy.

17 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set
18 my hand and affixed my notarial seal at West
19 Bloomfield, Michigan, County of Oakland, the 31st
20 day of June 2016.

21 



22 Theresa L. Roberts, CSR
23 Certified Shorthand Reporter - CSR-4870
24 Notary Public - Oakland County, MI
25 My commission expires 10-4-2020

A
A.C 47:24
A.M 10:23
abduct 15:23
17:9
abduction 16:6
abductions 16:5
abilities 38:7
able 44:17,22
above-entitled
65:4
abuse 41:19
abusing 41:20
academy 11:1
accept 35:10
accessible 36:1
accidentally
52:3
accompanying
60:1
accomplishments
8:11
accountability
5:17
accountable 36:3
accounts 7:15
act 28:10 32:12
action 42:10
actions 6:9
activities 19:14
activity 8:23
27:16 52:10
actual 11:22
12:11,11,22,25
16:6 26:15
50:25
ad 50:4
Adams 56:2
add 21:4 23:7
43:12 44:18,22
added 23:2 25:7
29:16
addition 10:8
15:19
additional 4:20
8:16 15:21
23:19 37:16
38:8 44:16,18
44:19,21
Additionally

7:11
address 5:25
27:9 49:13
addressed 61:3
adjourned 64:10
adjournment 3:14
63:22 64:7
ADMINISTRATIVE
2:11
administrative
21:16
adopted 32:5
adult 17:10
adults 22:24
advance 42:12
55:12
advice 26:20
advise 55:1
affect 62:8
affixed 65:18
afford 60:25
African-American
49:17
afternoon 19:5,7
21:13 24:2
29:20 58:15
60:11,12 61:20
61:23
agencies 22:9
39:2
agenda 7:24 20:9
20:10 22:4
50:9
agents 65:13
aggravated 12:12
ago 31:17 32:1
37:2 44:8 60:4
alert 63:1
allocation 22:15
22:19,19
allowing 42:12
allows 5:17
28:21
alongside 30:4
alternative 8:7
alternatives 8:4
21:5
Alvin 24:18
America 49:18
analyze 36:13
ankle 10:15

announcement
10:21 11:12
44:20
announcements
3:7 19:24 20:8
55:22
announcing 6:21
annual 5:24
answer 18:17
40:8 41:22
answers 16:24
Anthony 10:12
anticipate 44:10
anybody 16:18
anymore 59:7
anyway 9:20
appeal 5:18
appear 45:8
appears 51:19
appraisals 6:25
appreciate 10:3
34:12 49:10,13
58:7
appreciative
57:25
approach 21:21
21:25 22:3,21
22:23
approached 41:23
approval 7:17
20:15
area 21:9 43:20
areas 15:17 18:5
53:14 60:8
Arena 63:4
armed 63:21
Arnold 2:14
arrest 22:1
arrests 38:18,19
48:10
arrived 7:19
article 51:16,19
articles 51:6
asked 16:9 62:5
asking 50:21
asks 51:2
aspects 16:3
60:22
assaults 12:4,5
12:12
assembles 21:14

assessments
24:17
assessor 50:18
assessor's 6:19
7:5 50:18 53:9
53:17 54:19,19
55:11,17
assigned 17:14
17:20,21
assist 38:22
assistance 16:17
16:19 29:6
39:2
assistant 2:11
2:14 3:4 4:18
7:19 10:5,7
13:6,11,16,25
14:3,6,17
15:12 17:13,16
18:25 19:21
21:11
assisting 62:15
astounded 57:24
astounding 57:14
At-Large 2:4,8
ATM 14:19
attached 65:2,9
attack 8:3
attempt 52:6
attempted 16:6
attend 6:14
46:22 49:12
attendance 52:17
attendant 61:7
attended 9:12
11:8
attendees 45:4,6
45:7 46:6
47:18
attending 56:21
63:9
attention 5:21
42:25 50:8,15
51:17 54:10
58:19
attitude 41:18
attorney 45:13
Attorney's 39:1
attorneys 65:13
audience 8:25
56:5

authorize 54:21
authorized 6:5
automatic 13:23
avail 51:20
available 45:25
Avenue 62:8
award 9:14
aware 40:3,13
54:12
awesome 11:5,7
Aye 64:11

B

baby 33:19
back 4:13 7:4
9:3 18:13 38:3
39:12 41:17
background 6:6
37:14
Bailey 43:23
balanced 21:25
22:21
bank 13:23
bankruptcy 51:14
Barren 2:15
47:23,24
based 35:6 42:3
basic 8:2 32:24
51:2
basically 15:18
basis 11:17
bed 31:7
began 19:8,9
beginning 9:5
18:18 22:18
behalf 4:14
beings 32:16
believe 7:2
34:20 61:5,12
61:15
Bell 2:3 4:8
47:13 49:5
59:8 63:16
64:5
Bend 48:21,22,23
Bennett 29:12,20
31:25 45:23,23
Bernice 57:1
best 5:10 11:19
55:14
better 53:10

Bettison 17:25
18:15,20 19:4
19:9
beyond 32:24
bike 62:9
Bishop 24:9,14
28:18 29:8
31:5 40:10,10
40:13 41:13
43:15 44:2,5
48:17
bit 19:2 20:3
24:1 35:15
black 60:20 61:6
61:9
blanketing 36:6
blindly 61:13
block 18:11
25:20
blocks 15:6 33:6
blood 65:12
Bloomfield 65:19
Blossom 54:12
Blue 9:11,14
11:3
Blunt 3:11 58:14
60:9,11,13,14
board 1:1 2:10
4:14,16,21 5:2
5:4,12,22,23
5:25 6:7,8,9
6:13,23 7:6
8:15 9:1 13:5
19:22,23,25
20:1 41:1
47:12 50:6
51:7 52:18
59:18 60:11,12
board's 6:2 7:17
body 27:17 64:6
boots 24:21
36:16
Boston 8:1
bothers 60:18
Boulevard 21:8
32:8
Boundaries 25:5
25:17
boy 59:2
boyfriend 58:24
boys 27:3 41:22

Brace 28:15
break 22:6
briefing 36:23
briefly 48:3
49:6
bring 5:12 20:23
25:15 32:15
35:17 38:7
40:23,24 41:2
58:18
broadcast 52:18
broken 10:15
Brooks 2:4 4:8
9:23 14:22,23
17:11 20:18
56:19
brother 25:21
Brotherhood 25:4
25:4,17 29:15
brought 21:14
37:8,18 62:1
62:19
Brown 2:11 4:9
9:4,4 10:12
56:24 58:13
60:9 61:19
63:14
Bucy 10:15
budget 22:18
44:20
build 25:24
BUILDING 1:5
bunch 62:18
Burch 2:7 4:9
18:8 19:18
39:10,22 40:8
40:12 41:10,14
42:23 43:4,6
43:13,22 44:3
54:5 56:8,11
59:16
burglaries 12:19
Burton 2:5 4:10
59:17
Bush 10:18
business 52:10
54:7 55:20,21
59:15 64:6
businesses 53:25
62:20
Butzel 56:2

C

Caesars 63:4
calendar 6:14
call 3:2 4:7
5:21 19:1
24:24 25:21
26:7 28:8,14
33:16 40:16
43:25,25 46:7
48:23 50:8
51:17 56:22
call-in 27:14
42:19 45:4,5,7
45:9 46:6,18
46:19,20 47:9
47:11
call-ins 27:13
34:23
called 15:14,18
20:19,24 25:4
26:2 46:21
48:21 50:25
calling 34:25
calls 13:12
53:25 54:2
candlelight 29:1
29:4
capacities 38:8
capacity 19:10
20:7,14 21:17
23:2,7 44:24
Captain 19:1,5,6
19:8,19 35:3
35:14,16 37:19
37:22 38:3,11
41:24 43:3,5,7
45:14
car 15:5 17:3
card 9:2,5
cards 9:2 56:25
care 10:10 56:16
58:8 59:10
61:11
cares 33:18
carjackings 12:8
12:11
carries 64:13
Carter 2:2 4:5,6
10:2 13:6,9
14:20 17:22

21:1,10 37:3
37:22 39:8
43:14 44:25
47:15,22 48:16
49:19,24 50:3
51:24 55:19
56:10,22 58:12
61:18,23 63:12
64:1,9,12
catalyst 30:8
caused 42:10
caution 9:6
caveat 35:5
CB 18:11,14
cease 7:25,25
Ceasefire 21:12
21:18,20 24:7
28:3,7,24 32:4
32:24 33:8
37:8 39:15
41:16 43:17
44:21 48:20,25
57:22 60:15
61:2
Ceasfire 3:5
Cedric 43:23
center 26:24
29:18 32:7
33:22 56:2
centerpiece 30:9
central 8:22
ceremony 10:22
CERTIFICATE 65:1
Certified 65:23
certify 65:2,11
chair 4:6 9:25
10:8 17:12
19:1 20:4 21:3
21:15 23:9
39:11,18 44:14
45:3 47:6,23
48:18 49:5
50:7 52:2
53:19 54:5,17
56:8,24 57:3
63:14,16,25
64:5
Chairperson 2:2
3:3 4:5 10:2
13:6,9 14:20
17:22 21:1,10

37:3,22 39:8
43:14 44:25
47:15,22 48:16
49:19,24 50:3
51:24 55:19
56:10,22 58:12
61:18,23 63:12
64:1,9,12
chairperson's
52:15
chairwoman 22:3
challenge 33:7
challengers
25:12
challenges 26:16
change 50:10
changes 62:7
changing 22:14
31:12
Chaplain 43:23
charged 7:13
charges 11:13
charging 13:13
chart 45:4
charter 6:3 25:8
check 18:22
chief 2:13,14,15
3:4 4:18 5:7
7:19 10:5,7
13:7,11,16,25
14:3,6,17
15:12 17:13,16
17:25 18:25
19:21 21:11,25
23:11 45:11
47:23,24 48:2
58:16
chief's 50:15
child 17:2,2,3,4
17:6 33:19
children 15:23
16:16 17:6,8
18:10,12 40:2
41:16
Christmas 4:22
Christopher
10:18
church 39:24
40:1
churches 24:13
24:13 39:25

cities 46:21
citizen 5:18
citizens 58:1
citizens' 5:5
city 5:9,11 6:18
6:20 8:20
11:22 14:15
20:6 22:15,21
29:21 31:10
32:2 36:12
37:9 50:22
51:10 52:21,25
53:21 58:16
61:5 62:4
city's 7:4,9
22:16 44:15
citywide 23:18
44:10
civilian 5:3,14
civilians 5:13
clarification
6:18 47:5
classes 10:21
classroom 32:20
34:2
clear 45:15
clergy 8:6 28:25
29:8
clients 33:8
climate 25:11
close 38:11
closed 7:22
closely 21:5
closer 54:1
clubs 18:11
co-chair 2:8
9:22
coalition 24:14
28:25 29:8
43:17,20
Cobo 25:6
collaboration
22:7
collect 51:5
collecting 55:10
come 16:9 20:22
21:19 27:20
28:17,19,21
29:3 35:4,9
36:23 37:14
39:2,19,20

42:7 47:9,11
47:16,20 54:10
57:4,15
comes 12:23
22:14 41:11
46:20 52:20
54:1 57:6
coming 26:14
27:5,18 45:21
51:8 56:19
57:5 63:19
64:14
commander 7:12
11:10,11 35:17
36:25 37:5,6
37:24 40:23
commend 48:23
49:14
comments 3:8 9:5
49:20 56:6
commercial 6:20
6:22 7:3,8
50:21 51:1,3
55:9
commission 4:6
58:16 65:25
commissioner
4:10,11,12
9:22 13:8,9,10
13:22 14:2,4
14:13,21,23
17:11,12 18:8
18:19 19:18,20
20:17,18 21:2
21:3 39:9,10
39:22 40:8,12
41:10,14 42:23
43:4,6,13,22
44:3,9,25 45:2
46:3,10,13,17
46:23 47:1,4
47:13 49:5,6
49:20 50:1
51:21,24 52:1
53:19 54:5
56:8,11,18
59:8 63:16
64:5
Commissioner's
6:23
commissioners

1:1 2:1 4:21
5:2 7:5 9:12
11:4 13:7
14:21 19:23
41:1 49:21
50:3 52:19
54:16 55:20
59:11
committed 36:9
committee 18:21
20:11,12 50:4
50:5
communicate 47:8
communication
56:5
communications
8:25 54:22
communities 15:1
36:7
community 4:25
8:13 11:20,21
13:18 16:16,20
16:25 17:24,25
18:2,3,5 19:4
22:8,14 23:24
24:4,18 27:7
27:19 28:10
29:24 30:1,2,5
32:5 33:18
35:24 36:1
40:16 43:21
45:9 48:5,5,13
55:25
companies 59:14
company 52:22,23
compared 11:25
48:9
comparison 11:24
competitive
22:17
complaints 5:5
complete 65:9
comply 36:4
component 22:9
60:17
composite 16:4
composites 16:11
computer 65:8
computers 53:3
concern 4:15
55:6

concerned 13:13
39:15 58:19
59:8
concerning 16:7
19:4
concerns 8:18
49:13
concluded 64:15
conditional
34:21
conduct 28:25
conducted 53:20
Conducting 27:11
Coney 61:8
confidential
50:20 55:8
congratulate
9:13,20
conjunction
42:17
connected 65:12
connection 54:23
Conrad 4:12
consider 59:15
consideration
60:7
considered 43:21
constantly 23:7
constituents
62:18,21
contact 16:6
18:1 53:8
54:18
contained 65:6
continue 44:11
45:21 55:16
58:4,6,10
continuously
42:16
contract 52:21
contractor 20:6
control 5:18
controversy
65:16
convene 5:23
conversation
25:2,25 26:15
26:19
cooperation 9:8
coordinate 24:5
coordinated

21:21 25:23
29:7
coordinating
24:11,15
coordinator
24:10 40:6
copy 7:6 50:14
53:7 55:7
core 49:8
corporate 63:3,5
correct 52:9,12
54:3,22
corrected 52:5,7
53:22,24 54:14
correction 52:14
53:15 54:20
corrections
53:17
corrective 55:17
cost 13:19 30:17
53:21
COTS 20:20,25
Council 20:7
counselor 24:16
counselors 24:19
country 8:5
County 7:13
42:18 65:19,24
couple 20:16
25:7 32:1
47:25 50:8
course 51:4,18
60:3
court 45:8 65:1
Cox 37:19,23,25
coy 47:17
create 20:8
created 33:8
crew 21:14
crime 11:22 13:3
19:10 35:17,18
35:21 36:12
37:6 39:6,7
58:17
crimes 12:19
36:9
criminal 39:4
60:20
Crystal 3:12
60:10 61:19,21
CSR 65:22

CSR-4870 65:23
culture 8:4
25:11 31:12
current 33:10
38:1 44:17
currently 19:14
19:15 20:5
23:6,10 41:25
56:24
custom 27:11
28:4
cutting 26:10

D

D 10:21
D.C 18:8,15,20
19:4,9
D15 60:24
daily 11:17
49:14
Danielle 9:15
Darrell 4:9
Daryl 40:10
data 11:23,24
36:14,14 38:12
data-driven 8:12
22:23
date 12:17 47:20
dates 47:20
Davis 2:6 4:11
13:8,9,10,22
14:2,4,13
19:20 20:17
43:14 44:9
59:16
day 7:15 32:14
32:19 48:20
59:3 63:18,19
63:21 64:3
65:20
day-to-day 24:21
de-escalate
28:11,18
dead 58:25
deadline 7:3,10
51:2 54:1
55:12
deal 41:16 49:14
dealing 26:17
decide 36:4
decided 43:8

decision 27:22
decisions 11:19
declaration
63:19
decrease 12:11
12:20
dedicated 44:21
definitely 14:11
16:19
deliberate 36:5
delivered 33:14
demand 53:22
democracy 5:16
department 4:17
5:4,6,9 6:4
7:16 8:16,17
8:18 9:15,16
9:19 10:25
11:16,18 13:18
15:9 16:13
23:5,17 32:18
37:18 38:21
40:2 59:5 62:5
62:15
depend 13:20
depends 13:16
Deputy 2:15
17:25 47:23,24
description
52:15
details 47:9,11
47:16
detention 41:12
41:15,17
determining
40:16
deterrent 22:5
Detroit 1:1,5,7
4:1 5:3,9 6:19
6:20 10:25
11:23 14:14
16:13,19 20:6
21:8,18 22:10
36:13 37:9,17
38:20 51:10
53:2 55:24
61:14 62:5,5
63:2,4
Detroit 60:14
development 8:7
Dewaelsche 2:8

4:8 17:12 21:3
45:1,2 46:3,10
46:13,17,23
47:1,4 50:1
51:25 52:1
53:19
dialog 27:4 41:5
dialogue 27:9
32:20 36:20
42:11 53:10
diapers 33:14,16
died 59:3 61:6
difference 18:3
different 13:17
42:20 55:4
57:8,11,16,20
dig 62:11
direct 18:16
directions 7:1
directive 23:17
directly 43:18
65:15
director 21:16
21:18 37:20
48:1
dirty 31:10
disappointed
57:4
discipline 25:13
discuss 8:17
discussion 26:13
dispute 58:23
district 2:3,5,6
2:7 39:13,13
54:7 56:13
62:20
districts 57:8
doing 15:9 17:1
19:3,23 26:21
28:4 34:13
41:18,21 43:1
43:10 44:11,12
45:16 48:24
57:22 58:2,5
63:2
DOJ 23:3
dollars 5:10
44:16
Don 24:23
door 41:15
DPD 21:17 57:9

57:25
DPS 25:7
dramatically
62:9
drawings 16:4
drawn 16:11
dream 24:24
31:25
dreaming 31:24
drive 26:18
driver 34:14
driver's 31:9,14
34:8 35:11
driving 31:10
34:10,12 36:21
drops 27:17
drove 16:9
Dunning 26:13
duty 50:10
dynamic 26:3
dynamics 22:6
42:20

E

E 2:3,5 10:22
earlier 25:6
32:14 45:16
50:10 58:20
early 31:2 37:10
easier 24:25
east 32:7,9
61:21 62:4,14
Ebenezer 10:23
44:7
echo 11:14
edge 26:10
edification
62:17
education 30:12
33:22
educational 8:6
effective 8:13
effort 21:21
24:15 26:4
27:12 49:8,13
60:23
efforts 21:23
22:22 23:25
24:5 44:23
eight 19:11
either 28:8 46:1

54:9 65:14
electronically
50:23
elicit 8:3
Elizabeth 2:4
4:8 9:22 18:20
Elvin 2:15
email 54:6
employed 31:22
employee 65:14
en 16:15
encourage 8:17
17:23 18:13
endangered 49:16
ended 38:14
enforcement 8:8
8:12,23 15:13
15:13 16:3,23
21:21 22:8,22
23:1 27:12,14
28:11,21 30:5
30:13 35:23
36:6,7 42:5
44:18 45:20,22
46:2
enforcement's
27:25
enforcing 9:6
engage 24:6 25:1
engaged 39:4
engagement 26:24
27:4 29:18
42:11 62:6,16
engaging 24:22
enhanced 38:8
Enjoy 64:13
enormous 55:6
enter 28:3 42:6
enterprises 39:4
entertain 20:12
entire 11:16
32:19 38:19
43:20 51:16
entity 54:21
environment 42:6
42:7
era 60:4
Eric 3:11 10:14
58:14 60:9,14
error 7:8 53:1
53:20,21,23

especially 19:24
44:7
essentially
52:23,24
ethic 33:5
Eva 2:8 4:7
54:13
evening 27:1
29:19 47:10
50:16
event 11:3,5,7
29:15 45:9,10
56:12,17,21
events 40:22
eventually 62:10
everybody 16:25
28:19 32:25
56:12,20
evidence 61:16
evidence-based
22:5
ex-boyfriend
58:24
example 7:7
exceeded 37:9
excellent 44:12
excessive 14:4
14:11
excited 23:2
27:2,10 38:4
exciting 11:1
excuse 19:13
excused 4:9,11
4:12
exists 5:2 53:11
expand 8:19
23:18
expanded 8:15
23:15,16
expanding 48:25
expect 20:11
expectation 42:9
expectations
37:10
experienced
38:16 39:5
expires 65:25
explain 45:5
expound 47:25
48:15
express 4:14

extend 35:25
extension 40:17
43:15,17
eye 5:13
eyes 32:23

F

face-to-face
24:22
facility 10:10
facing 11:13
fact 32:13 34:5
35:20 40:14,19
59:9,14 60:4
factor 41:7
failures 57:14
faith 3:9 44:1
56:25 57:2,2
faith-based 22:9
24:10 30:6
36:2 40:6
43:17,19
fall 52:11
fallen 4:15,21
34:24 56:14
57:18
families 4:16
57:19 58:2
61:1
family 29:5,6
30:24
far 13:2 15:13
16:3 17:19
18:18 45:5
faults 57:13
favor 64:10
federal 36:22
38:21 39:2
fee 13:13 14:11
feedback 54:9
feel 22:22 29:24
59:10
fellowship 5:25
female 26:1,2
females 26:4,6
fewer 12:2,7,16
12:25 48:8
Fields 3:12
60:10 61:19,20
61:21,24 63:13
fighting 28:16

file 52:23
finally 31:4
35:2
financial 51:10
find 15:25 17:10
61:15
fine 58:3,5
finish 28:22
fire 7:25,25
9:16 11:6
first 9:17 10:24
11:6 29:23
34:14 35:16
37:11 52:3,13
56:25 65:4
five 12:13 34:4
fix 38:2
flier 29:17
fliers 62:18,21
63:9
Flip 29:25 30:8
30:18 32:6
33:21
floor 10:5 52:25
focus 23:13
focused 6:2
19:13 22:5
25:2
folks 35:6,7
58:10
follow 7:1 17:13
18:9 19:3
54:24
follow-up 54:18
followed 57:1
58:13 60:9
following 34:13
foot 17:4 33:11
footprint 8:19
force 27:18
forced 15:4
forces 63:21
Ford 26:24 29:18
form 18:21 50:20
50:21
formation 26:2
former 7:12
11:11 33:10
34:1 37:25
forth 41:17 55:2
forward 55:15

founding 5:15
four 34:3 56:25
Fourth 13:14
frame 12:1,6,14
Frederick 11:12
Friday 5:22 29:9
33:23 40:3
friends 14:14
full 27:18 45:19
45:21
full-day 6:12
fully 39:21
funded 22:22
funding 22:14
further 65:11
future 49:12
FY 22:19

G

games 41:4
gang 8:1,4 28:8
31:18 32:10,21
33:10,15 34:1
36:18 38:23
39:3 45:14,17
Garza 2:8
gas 61:7,13
gather 40:2
GED 30:12 33:21
33:22 34:1
general 6:17
19:21
generational
42:14
generations
34:15
gentleman 34:17
getting 13:23
25:23 31:12
33:3,3,4 35:2
35:14
Giaquinto 35:18
36:25 37:5,5
37:24
Girls 21:5
give 6:6 11:23
20:7 27:25
35:5 37:3 56:5
given 26:20 33:1
33:12 45:19
gives 15:17

27:15
giving 21:19
33:2
go 11:18 13:2
18:12,14 20:11
20:23 22:25
32:11 33:16
34:10 38:3
39:25 44:10
57:18
goals 8:2 22:12
goes 15:14 17:6
54:9
going 4:6 9:19
11:1,22,23,24
15:2,10,25
16:1,24,24,25
17:7 18:20
19:11,12 20:6
20:22 21:23
23:23 27:5
28:17 29:12
34:6 35:3
41:17,25 42:4
51:11 52:6,8
52:12 54:2,14
57:9,12,13
58:1,17 59:9
59:15,23,25
62:7,8,11
good 11:18 13:2
17:23 19:5,7
19:22 20:17
21:13 24:2
29:20 35:11
43:1 49:25
58:2,8,11,15
60:11,12 61:20
61:23
Goodwill 30:2
gotten 33:12
34:1,9
government 5:17
8:9 63:7
grabbed 15:4
graduating 10:21
graduation 10:24
Grand 21:8 32:8
grant 23:3,6
37:11
great 47:7 50:1

58:5 61:14
63:13
Greer 24:19
Gregory 2:10
grew 25:19
ground 24:21
32:11 36:16
group 17:6,7
22:6 24:24
27:2 38:23
45:17
groups 16:20
22:8 39:4
guess 38:11 46:6
57:21
gun 22:7,24
27:22 35:12,21
35:24 36:12
60:18
gunned 61:10
guns 8:3 61:9
gunshot 10:11
gunshots 61:6
guy 31:6 36:25
guys 24:25 25:10
27:13 28:3
31:11 32:19
33:24 35:9

H

half 26:22 31:17
31:22
half-day 6:11
Hall 25:6 42:18
hand 10:19 28:13
65:18
hand-in-hand
17:1
handles 24:17
hang 45:17
happen 16:23
17:15 27:6
28:23 31:7
52:4
happened 15:20
28:9 33:11
happening 18:24
29:17 40:18
happens 17:8
26:22 29:1,9
30:14

happy 33:24
harassed 59:22
hard 12:10,25
16:1 23:13
47:19 48:1,4
48:19 61:8,15
Harris 24:10,14
28:19 29:8
31:6 40:10,11
40:13 41:13
43:15 44:2,5
48:17
hats 31:5 32:17
he'll 23:25
head 10:11,17
headquarters
4:23 55:24
57:10
hear 21:23 39:22
43:2 45:10,11
45:11,12,13,14
46:4,5 57:15
60:19
heard 14:12
27:13 29:22
Hearing 64:15
hearts 33:2
Helman 26:23
help 7:8 15:1
17:10 18:21
20:2 27:20
28:11 34:9,10
38:7 58:1 62:6
helped 15:6
18:11,11 34:16
helping 14:15
22:24 37:19
42:14
hereunto 65:17
heroes 57:18
Hi 40:12,13
Hicks 2:10 20:4
50:7 52:13
54:17 55:20
high 33:21
higher 36:23
Hillbilly 26:11
history 51:10
hit 30:15 33:16
53:14
hoc 50:4

Hogan 24:19 26:3
hold 36:3
holiday 4:23
63:18
holler 17:9
Holly 4:11
Holmes 24:23
home 10:12,13,14
10:15,17,18
30:15
homeland 63:2,8
homicide 29:2
38:2,16
homicides 12:2,2
36:18 38:13,14
honest 38:5
honor 63:23 64:2
honored 11:6
hope 8:10,13
38:6 60:6
hopeful 60:15
hopefully 37:15
hosted 40:22
hotels 31:3
hour 31:17 60:25
hours 37:12,12
38:24
house 20:19,19
20:23,24 34:18
household 34:14
housing 30:22
31:23 34:17
Hudson-Webber
23:6
huge 18:3
human 18:18,19
18:23 19:3,14
19:16 20:20
32:16,25 58:4
hundred 30:3
40:6 57:12
hurdle 34:4
hurry 30:16
hurting 29:6
husband 9:18

I

ID 31:9 34:9
idea 49:7
identify 8:11
38:8 43:9

identifying 37:7
images 29:14,15
immediately
20:14 50:14
54:11
impacts 48:14
important 5:15
5:19,22 6:18
6:21,25 7:4
30:22 31:8
35:18
imposed 7:3
improve 5:10
38:7
in-depth 51:13
incident 7:14
incidents 61:5
included 9:22
52:14
includes 21:22
Incorporated
61:22
incorrectly 6:22
increase 16:14
increased 19:10
22:15
increasing 19:12
22:13
incredible 37:13
Indiana 48:22
indicate 7:16
60:19
indicated 50:9
indicted 39:3
indirectly 65:15
individual 16:8
25:9 26:3
individuals 24:6
25:14 33:9,25
34:16 36:20
38:6 48:6
individuals'
48:11
Industries 30:2
infamous 28:15
infancy 37:10
information 4:20
6:7 7:4,20
8:14 20:24
50:12,14 51:2
52:19,20 54:25

55:4,13,16
63:13
informational
7:9
informative 6:16
inherently 60:20
initiative 22:18
25:3 29:13,23
30:4 44:15
initiatives
22:17
injured 4:15,17
4:20 10:9
innovative 26:9
43:10
input 59:19
inside 20:16
28:23
install 62:12
installed 62:10
institutional
60:21 61:4
intel 28:8 45:14
intelligence
36:10,19
intense 28:12,20
inter-city 24:12
interacting 57:6
interaction 42:3
57:16
interest 11:20
51:6
interested 48:24
59:18 62:3
63:8 65:14
interim 62:13
interoffice
50:15
intersect 6:4
intervention
19:15 21:22
23:1 37:16
38:9
introduce 24:8
29:11
introduced 20:10
introduction
22:4
invested 8:16
37:12
investigate 5:5

investigating
19:16
investigation
28:22
investigative
36:17
invited 25:7
involved 6:24
20:1 27:16
29:10 35:21
38:18 43:1,19
involvement 8:6
39:24 48:6
Island 61:8
isolated 53:14
issue 8:20,20
18:22 21:6
31:10 39:23
40:25
issues 6:1 8:18
25:14 26:16
27:9
item 50:25
items 5:22 50:9

J

Jackson 19:1,5,6
19:8,19 35:3
35:14,16 38:1
38:3,11 41:24
43:3,5,7 45:14
jail 20:22
James 10:13
24:23
January 23:16
Jefferson 61:21
62:4,8,14
Jim 4:11
job 8:7 9:20,21
22:13 24:11,14
24:25 25:23
28:22 31:16
44:12 45:24
49:1,25 58:3,5
58:11 59:6
jobs 31:19 33:8
52:25 60:23
Johnson 10:10
join 17:23,24,24
joint 27:12
Jr 4:12

July 22:19 23:22
39:20
June 5:22,23
6:11,12 7:2,10
10:24 23:15
47:9,14 51:2
56:1 63:3
65:20
jurisdiction
52:11
Justice 23:5
42:19
Justin 10:16
juvenile 41:11
41:14 42:19
juveniles 42:15

K

KATS 36:18
keep 15:2 35:8
41:17 49:25
56:15 58:2
keepers 35:22
keeping 22:11,12
31:22,22
Keith 29:11,20
45:23
kept 31:21
kids 15:2,10,16
15:16 18:7
killed 58:23
59:2
kind 18:12,21
25:9,9 26:5,18
27:16 28:10,12
43:25 45:15
46:7
Kisselburg 10:13
know 9:16 13:12
13:15,22 14:7
14:16,25 15:10
15:24 16:17,19
17:8 18:4,15
18:17 20:9,19
25:12,13 27:15
27:15,16 28:12
28:13 29:1
31:9,24 32:23
34:6,20 35:9
38:3,17,21
41:12,16,19

44:1 45:16,16
45:17,18,24
46:3 47:7,12
48:18 49:10
51:18 52:7,10
53:6,11 54:1,8
54:14 57:11,21
58:1 59:13,21
59:25 60:2,17
60:20,21 62:23
63:10
knowing 56:16
knowledge 17:20
known 33:9
Kym 45:12,12

L

L 65:22
ladies 19:25
20:1 59:22
lady 29:3
lanes 62:10
larcenies 12:21
largely 40:22
late 31:2
law 8:8,12,23
15:13,13 16:23
22:8 27:12,14
27:19,25 28:11
28:21 30:4,13
34:13 35:23
36:7 42:4
45:20,21 46:1
Leach 7:12,18
11:10,11,11
50:11
lead 28:19
leaders 25:15
31:18
leadership 10:25
48:4
leading 26:4
leads 23:25
learn 42:8
learning 42:21
lease 59:13
leave 30:23 43:4
63:10
leaving 15:17
led 26:18
left 31:16 33:25

legal 34:12,14
Lenette 10:1,2,3
lessen 41:5
let's 38:2
letter 6:21,22
6:25 7:2,6
50:17,19,23,24
51:9 52:2,7
54:10 55:8
letterhead 6:23
52:3 53:4,7
54:15
letters 34:25
letting 45:24
level 36:23 48:8
levels 8:8 36:17
liaison 16:18
18:2 28:10
license 31:9,14
34:8 35:11
licenses 13:20
lick 33:17
Lieutenant 7:18
11:11 50:11
life 5:11 29:2,3
30:17 37:25
38:1,1,2
life-long 60:14
lifestyle 48:12
lift 63:19
limit 56:6
Lincoln 42:18
line 39:20,20
62:3
lines 62:12
Lisa 2:2 4:6
59:9
list 54:22
listed 30:10
33:1 50:9 51:7
listen 27:20
listened 35:1
listening 51:18
listing 4:17
little 19:2 20:2
22:20 24:1
35:15 53:5
56:17 62:2
63:4
live 39:14
lives 48:12

living 27:24
28:1
loaded 53:5
local 8:11,23
38:22 51:19
63:6
locally 5:20
located 9:3 21:7
55:24 56:2
location 47:21
long 29:21 34:18
35:12 38:3,3
44:8 60:4
long-term 10:10
longer 36:6
look 12:10 14:11
14:18 25:20
looked 58:22
looking 13:1
15:25 32:15
41:8 44:24
looks 36:12
lost 29:2,3
lot 11:5 16:16
18:16 24:7,11
26:20 27:12
28:3 29:15,16
30:22 31:6,10
32:3,8,21,23
35:2 36:4 42:2
42:10,13,20
43:9 54:8
57:22 59:24
60:5
love 34:21
low 35:9
lowest 38:15
Lyndon 56:3

M

ma'am 19:19
39:18 41:13,24
43:3,5 44:5
47:3,3 49:23
machine 13:24
14:1
Madam 10:8 17:12
20:4 21:3,15
39:10 45:3
48:17 49:5
50:7 52:1

53:19 54:5,17
56:8,24 63:14
63:16,25 64:5
Maddelien 26:25
magnify 58:8
mailed 6:19
mailer 52:20
mailing 52:22,23
main 20:10
major 33:7
making 9:8 22:11
31:7 53:17
54:20 55:11
57:17 60:24
male 25:9 49:17
Mallett 4:12
man 13:11 27:24
29:2 30:23
37:11 61:6
manage 14:9,10
management 48:4
manages 14:19
mandate 6:3
Marie 58:15
mark 6:13
marriage 65:12
Marroquin 10:16
mass 52:20
massive 53:12,13
match 53:1
matches 52:24
math 12:22 34:4
matter 7:23
25:18,19 32:13
40:14,19 65:4
65:15
matters 35:13
mayor 5:7 23:11
44:20 45:11
48:2,22
mayors 51:14
McCallister
56:20
mean 46:8 51:9
meaningful 27:8
means 11:16 35:1
65:7
meant 48:4
measure 6:1
measures 55:17
media 11:15

16:12
meet 4:23,25
34:22
meeting 1:2 8:24
32:25 55:22,25
58:20
meetings 9:8
36:15 53:16
meets 4:22
member 2:4,8
6:13
members 6:7,8
19:11 32:10,22
33:10,15 34:2
38:20 39:3
memo 50:15
Memorial 63:18
64:2
men 11:17 25:13
26:14 27:8
30:16 31:18
32:5 33:2 45:8
45:25 58:22
61:9
mention 9:10
63:17
mentioned 26:2
34:8 45:15
47:19 48:1
59:9
mentorship 32:3
message 20:2
25:17,24 27:14
28:1 35:2,14
45:10,15,20,23
met 33:13,20
48:21,22
MI 65:24
Michigan 1:7 4:1
21:8 36:11
65:19
midday 50:12
middle 31:3
Mile 26:25
mindsets 31:12
mine 60:2
minimum 60:24
minority 41:22
minus 50:22
minute 56:9
minutes 56:7

mirror 26:5
mission 63:8
misunderstood
46:18
model 46:21
48:19,25
modify 5:8,8
moment 63:23
64:1,4
Monday 33:23
36:15 63:19
money 13:23
44:23
monitor 5:6 14:7
month 4:24 5:1
25:6 26:22
morning 15:15
31:2 33:14
58:21,21
motels 31:3
mother 60:2
motion 54:3
64:13
move 20:14 30:23
43:8 64:6
moved 31:1 64:9
moving 26:23
MULTIPLE 19:7
64:8,11
multiply 8:5
municipalities
38:22

N

name 9:2,17,17
10:1 21:15
37:3 40:10
46:19 56:6
57:2 60:13
61:20
named 25:16
narcotics 36:18
national 46:20
48:19 63:18
nationally 5:19
naturally 8:8
nature 31:23
32:22 51:15
near 49:12,12
necessarily
43:18

need 9:4 15:10
30:14,15 33:17
33:20 35:11,12
37:8 42:9
43:11 44:23
49:7,11 54:2,3
59:12,23 60:6
needed 43:10
needs 30:24,25
32:24,25 33:13
neighborhood
16:18 17:17
25:20 26:14
neighbors 18:13
neutral 32:7,11
never 57:3
new 6:7,8 22:16
36:25 37:13,15
44:15 49:6
55:20 60:4
62:12
news 7:11 59:7
Nicholas 35:17
Nick 37:5
night 31:3,3
nightmares 32:1
nobody's 57:12
nominees 9:13
noncriminal 5:5
nonfatal 12:15
12:17 48:8
nonfatals 24:7
noon 6:10
norms 22:14
North 32:7
notarial 65:18
Notary 65:1,24
note 55:3
notes 52:15
notice 51:8
noticed 58:3
notifications
27:11 28:4
notify 59:4
number 12:10,15
12:22,25 15:24
15:25 16:1
19:17 25:1
26:12,12,13
34:3,9,16
37:11 42:25

43:8 47:13
52:4,18,25
53:11 55:4
numbers 12:10
48:11
numerous 31:1

O

o'clock 6:10
33:14 47:10
58:21
Oakland 65:19,24
objective 5:8
obtained 9:4
Obviously 6:24
occur 20:15
occurred 7:15
9:11 12:5,14
occurs 36:12
offer 46:1
offered 33:22
office 6:19 7:5
7:14 18:2,2
31:17 39:1
42:18 47:8
50:12 51:23
53:9,17 54:19
54:20 55:12,17
officer 7:13
9:15 10:9,12
10:12,14,16,18
11:12 41:23
officers 4:16,18
4:21 10:9
17:14,17,18,20
17:21 18:12
27:7 30:13
41:2,3,19
44:19,21 56:14
59:5 61:12
oh 9:10 13:25
29:13,14 44:5
46:17
okay 10:2 39:13
39:23 41:10
44:3 46:3,17
46:23 47:1,4
old 5:14 31:6
55:20
once 28:14 49:15
ones 34:24 35:23

36:3 43:24
57:17
open 63:5
opened 32:22
opening 39:19
operational 6:1
39:21
operations 5:6
21:17 44:17
opportunities
22:13
opportunity 5:25
11:5 17:23
21:19 24:3
opposed 64:12
option 27:21
oral 8:24 56:4
ordered 45:8
organization
21:4 54:8
organizations
30:9,19
organized 6:6
8:1 19:10
35:18 37:6
organizer 23:24
24:4
organizers 9:21
originally 7:25
37:6
Osborne 43:21
outrage 35:24
outreach 8:13
24:5,12,20
25:2 26:2
27:19 29:9
36:2 44:22
48:13
outstanding
49:15
overall 39:7
oversight 5:3,14
owner 51:3
owners 6:20 7:3
7:8 50:22 51:1
55:9

P

P.M 1:4 4:3,25
5:1 55:23 56:1
64:15

package 7:7
packet 50:17,19
50:20
PAGE 3:1
pages 65:9
paper 15:3,3
41:20
parents 15:17
17:1 59:25
park 56:18
parking 32:21
part 8:22 22:16
23:5 24:13
30:1,3,10 37:7
38:17 43:10
44:6,15,16
45:18 49:3
60:16
part-time 59:6
participated
22:16
particular 41:2
53:7 59:12
parties 49:9
65:13
partner 35:17
36:11
partners 36:2,22
36:24
partnership
16:12 35:22
38:19 40:15
45:22
passage 31:11,14
passed 34:3
passion 28:20
Patrick's 7:15
patrol 17:25
18:5,11,14
59:23 60:8
patrolling 15:19
patrols 15:21,21
17:24 18:5,14
pay 7:18 42:24
peace 29:7
Peggy's 20:19,24
people 13:12
14:8 18:6
19:12 25:12
28:16 31:1
32:4,8,10,11

33:4,5,12
35:20 36:9,16
39:3 44:4 49:1
52:8,17,17
54:8 55:5
60:20,25
people's 32:25
percent 12:1,4,6
12:9,13,16,20
12:22,24 35:20
40:6 57:12
percentages
12:23
perfect 57:12
periods 4:23
person 32:13
37:13 46:8,9
46:24,25 55:13
personnel 19:9
37:12 63:6,7
persons 11:12
53:3
perspective 5:12
pertaining 14:24
57:8
phenomenal 12:15
24:11,14 25:23
27:3 28:13
34:24 45:24
49:24
physical 16:6
picked 20:21
picking 15:2
pieces 21:25
pilots 42:2
place 10:22
20:22 37:2,15
49:2
placed 7:6 48:6
plan 6:14
planning 62:5,15
played 30:8
please 4:19 7:21
9:1 24:20
42:24 56:5,7
podium 57:7
point 15:1 30:21
46:16
points 37:16
38:9
police 1:1 2:13

2:14 3:4 4:21
4:23 5:2,4,7,8
6:4,5,23 9:15
10:25 13:17
15:9,19 16:13
17:17 19:23
30:12 32:17
37:17 38:20
40:1,16 41:1
41:18,23 42:14
52:19 56:14
59:5,21 60:6
police-author...
6:9
police-community
26:10
policemen 15:11
policing 5:13
policy 5:8
population 24:23
positive 57:5
posters 62:19,21
power 41:19
46:16
powerful 28:2,2
30:6 45:10
powers 5:16
practices 40:24
41:3,25
pray 58:4
prayer 28:19
56:15
prayers 57:18
precinct 13:14
23:20,20 26:15
26:23 27:6
28:7,8 36:17
39:14,16,18,19
40:1,4,15,20
41:2 42:1,1
54:7 56:1,13
precincts 23:10
23:19 24:8
28:24 43:2
44:13 57:9
predator 15:22
predicated 35:6
premier 45:10
prepared 19:2
33:4
presence 11:4

18:3 36:8
37:21 65:7
presentation 3:3
3:5 7:24 8:10
8:14 14:24
21:12 45:19
46:4,11,16
50:2
presentations
57:17
presented 57:7
press 7:15 51:20
pretty 13:1 23:2
24:5 25:10
47:19
prevention 8:2
8:21 21:22
23:1,25
previous 6:16
primary 17:18
principals 47:18
principle 5:14
principles 5:15
5:19
print 9:2
printing 7:7
prior 51:8
private 63:6
privilege 9:7
probably 19:21
34:2 51:15
53:25
problem 37:7
53:11,12 54:23
proceeded 40:19
proceedings 65:3
65:10
process 34:12
42:22
productive 6:15
9:9
program 6:10
7:25 8:2,2,15
8:19,21 9:11
15:15 22:2,5
23:8,13 28:3
34:20 37:8,13
40:3,14 43:24
48:7,7 60:15
programs 8:5,7
8:12 18:7 48:1

48:13
progress 6:1
progresses 41:9
project 59:12
promise 35:22
promises 22:11
22:12,12 30:12
30:13
promoting 25:2
prongs 22:25
property 6:20,22
6:24 7:3,8
12:19 13:2
50:22 51:1,3
55:9
prosecuting
45:13
Prosecutor 45:12
Prosecutor's
7:14 42:18
protect 15:9
59:24
proud 30:3 49:3
provide 4:19 5:2
5:10 8:14
11:20 14:8
16:24 29:4,5
30:11,18 32:6
55:16
provided 32:3
provider 29:13
29:25
providers 30:5
provides 13:18
public 1:5 3:8
6:18 9:5 16:13
19:24 20:8
55:24 62:6,8
62:14,15 65:1
65:24
publication
51:12
pulling 34:19
pulls 27:17
purchase 13:19
13:20
push 20:2
pushing 26:1
put 6:22 14:7
20:20 23:13
27:22 31:5

33:24 37:1
49:11 60:17
61:9
putting 35:12

Q

quality 5:11
question 13:8,10
14:24 44:9
45:3
questions 13:4,7
14:21 18:16
20:12 39:9
49:20 51:23
quick 4:7 24:8
30:16 35:5
54:18
quickly 47:25
53:24
Quincy 23:24
24:2,3 31:5,16
35:3 45:7 46:9
46:12,15,19,25
47:3,19
quite 38:4 39:11

R

race 61:14
races 32:21
racism 60:21
61:4
radar 27:25
raise 60:25
rampant 58:18
ran 16:10
rapidly 38:24
rapists 60:5
rate 34:24 35:4
35:5,9,19
rates 38:16
re-entry 21:23
re-offending
35:8
read 7:1 41:19
reading 22:4
ready 39:11
real 24:8 25:8
26:9,20 29:5
30:16 36:5,10
36:19 38:14
45:15 47:25

realize 42:5
really 22:2
23:12 25:18,24
26:9,17,24
27:1,10 28:17
29:10 33:13
37:18 45:9
46:20 48:24
49:6,9,10,11
55:3 61:10
62:22
reappraisal 6:21
reason 25:16
recall 51:12
receive 5:4 35:6
50:13
received 50:12
52:8 53:25
55:3,7
receives 4:16
receiving 10:17
10:19 47:1
54:2
recidivism 34:23
35:4,9,19
record 4:5,7
10:1 37:4 56:6
57:3 60:13
recovery 33:22
Recreation 56:2
recuperating
10:11,12,13,14
10:15,16,18
reduce 22:7
reduced 65:6
reducing 22:13
22:24
reduction 38:15
39:7,7
reeks 60:21
reference 49:8
referred 20:11
50:18
reflection 11:16
regard 45:3 52:2
regards 37:16
59:5 62:6
regular 4:24
33:9
reissue 55:13
reissuing 51:9

related 4:20
13:11 19:13,14
35:19
relates 35:24
42:15
relations 26:11
40:17 61:14
relationship
62:4
relay 32:21
releases 7:12
releasing 16:11
relocate 30:24
relocating 31:4
remarks 4:19
remember 9:17
10:4 63:20
remembered 64:2
remind 8:25
remiss 63:17
removal 32:2
repeat 35:20
repeating 46:5
report 3:4,6
4:13,17 7:21
13:12 50:5
51:9,22
Reporter 65:1,23
reports 13:19
50:4,5
represent 35:23
39:13 54:6
REPRESENTING
2:13
reproduced 53:5
reproduction
54:21
request 7:9,17
7:18 50:10
requested 7:5
research 36:11
reset 23:13 48:1
48:4,19 49:3
residents 17:23
40:25
resource 24:16
24:18 26:24
29:18
resources 8:17
27:20 44:11
respect 25:21

respond 7:9 28:6
28:23 38:23
responding 38:24
response 20:5
42:3 55:8
responses 38:25
responsibilities
6:3
responsibility
24:4 37:20
42:5
responsible 24:6
25:10 52:9
rest 64:13
restorative
40:24 41:3
return 7:4 50:22
returning 51:1
revealed 38:12
revolving 41:15
right 14:13 20:7
25:11 26:25
28:1 31:11,13
41:12 42:22,23
43:6,19 46:18
54:9
rights 5:18
Riley 24:19
rival 32:14
road 34:10
rob 14:15
robberies 12:7,7
Robert 2:11
Roberts 65:22
robust 22:10
23:8
Rodney 37:24,25
38:1
Rodneys 37:25
role 24:4 35:21
51:13
roll 3:2 4:7
41:8 55:15
rolling 23:19
rookies 32:18
room 24:9 25:10
25:16 27:24
28:1 49:2
Rouge 59:4
round-group
26:13

route 16:15
routes 15:14,18
15:19 16:21
17:19 18:4
run 17:9 23:4
43:24
runs 30:15

S

sacrifice 63:20
63:25
safe 15:14,18
17:18 18:4
30:25
safer 18:7
safety 1:5 11:20
14:8 18:10
55:24 62:9
salute 56:13
sat 34:2
Saturday 5:23
6:12,12 56:13
56:17
Saturdays 33:23
saw 26:5 46:6
saying 18:9 35:1
41:21 52:7
54:13
says 22:1 45:20
scene 28:14
scenes 28:6,12
28:23
schedule 7:22
49:11
school 15:2,10
15:16,17 17:2
17:3,4,6,19,21
25:11 33:21
34:11 42:4
59:23,25 60:1
60:2
schools 16:13,15
16:15 17:15,19
18:4 25:8
scream 17:9
Script 29:25
30:8,19 32:6
33:21
seal 65:18
second 5:1 10:22
16:8 44:7

Secondarily
50:17
secretary 2:10
3:6 19:22 20:4
50:6,7 52:13
54:11,17
sector 63:6
securing 16:20
security 16:14
63:2,3,5,8
see 18:21,23
28:17,18,20
29:24 30:10,11
30:20 32:8,9
32:11 33:1,6
33:24 37:15
38:6 48:5 49:4
50:24 53:3
58:6,7,10 59:6
60:15,19 61:3
62:7
seek 60:22
seeking 7:16
8:18
seen 26:20 29:23
36:14 47:12
selecting 39:25
send 50:23 52:7
52:22 54:15
sending 17:4
34:25
sense 53:12 55:6
sent 32:18 52:2
52:19 54:11,13
55:9
Separation 5:16
September 23:4
Sergeant 10:14
26:11,12 56:19
series 8:4 51:13
service 13:13
19:24 20:8
22:9 29:12,25
35:10 46:7
47:2 61:25
services 13:17
30:18 33:1,13
35:7,25 45:24
serving 63:21
session 4:24
5:24,24 6:2,5

6:6,11,12,15
6:16 7:22
sessions 25:3
set 8:3 65:17
setting 42:19
setup 50:24
seven 23:9
sewer 62:12
sexual 12:4,5
share 6:17 7:20
62:2,2,14,17
62:22,24
she'll 9:23
Sherelle 24:19
26:3
sheriff's 9:18
Shirley 2:7 4:9
shooting 28:6,7
28:9,14,15,23
shootings 12:15
12:17 22:13
24:7 48:9
Shorthand 65:23
shot 59:2
shouldered 37:19
show 8:11 27:3
shows 12:21 28:9
side 15:7,13
16:23 23:15
25:19 26:1
31:1,2 33:11
45:22
significant
38:15 39:5
48:9,11 51:19
silence 63:23
64:2,4
simply 45:20
Sims 24:18
sir 48:16 58:19
sit 32:13 36:13
36:19
sit-down 26:15
site 32:7
sitting 27:8
32:19 63:24
situation 28:18
52:16 59:10
slightly 60:19
Smith 3:10 10:14
23:24 24:2,3

35:3 45:7 46:9
46:12,15,19,25
47:3 57:1
58:13,15,15
social 22:8
24:17
society 36:3
somebody 17:9
30:14,15
somewhat 22:17
sorry 11:11
26:12 29:14
43:16 46:4
56:9
sound 26:20
sounds 44:11
South 48:21,22
48:22
southwest 14:14
21:8
speak 9:1 35:15
44:4 48:10
56:9 57:7
speaker 9:25
56:25 63:15
speaker's 9:2
speakers 25:22
56:23
speaking 9:7,23
34:17 57:17
special 6:5
specializing
36:17
species 49:16
specific 25:8
36:10
specifically
19:13 36:21
38:23 42:4
43:7
spend 32:19
spiel 27:15
spoke 18:19
39:24 45:4
58:20
sponsors 11:8
St 7:15
staff 8:16 19:9
62:25 63:10
staffing 37:12
stages 37:10

stand 24:20
standing 50:4
standpoint 44:19
start 6:10 10:8
17:24 23:19,21
31:24 32:15
34:11 54:2
started 23:3,10
25:3 26:7,11
starting 26:23
26:25 27:4
39:20
state 10:24 34:9
36:11 38:21
63:6
statement 37:7
States 49:17
station 61:7,13
status 50:11
stay 55:14
staying 34:19
Stein 21:13,16
37:20 39:17
40:5 44:14
47:6,16 48:1
49:22
stenography 65:7
step 18:6 52:13
stepped 15:20
stepping 37:14
stitches 10:19
stolen 12:24,25
13:2
stopped 60:6
strategic 36:24
strategy 22:6
street 1:6 28:15
32:10 34:19
55:25 62:11
streets 31:21
32:2
strike 10:17
string 53:4
strong 8:6 22:23
strongly 58:6
structuring
25:11
student 26:18
students 25:7
subject 7:21
suburban 24:13

success 26:5,21
35:5 39:5
successes 19:17
48:11
successful 56:14
56:18
sufficient 6:9
suite 23:5
summer 23:21
39:21
summit 25:5 26:6
42:10
support 4:15
8:22 24:12
29:4 43:12
44:23 60:23
64:8
supported 64:9
supporting 63:7
supposed 41:23
supreme 63:20,25
sure 6:15 9:1,23
14:18 15:5,23
16:14 17:5
20:18 23:8
26:19 27:12
29:5 30:14,15
30:25 33:19
35:7 36:5 40:5
42:25 54:25
55:11 56:10
surprised 53:24
surprising 53:6
surrounding 7:14
suspects 16:4
suspension 7:17
sustain 44:17
sworn 65:5
symposium 63:3,5
synthesize 36:15
system 42:17

T

table 9:3 27:8
take 7:23 10:22
13:4 17:2,2
30:24 32:17
34:10 37:15
39:17 46:1,1
59:10 60:2,7
taken 48:7,18

65:3
takes 29:22
34:11
talk 11:2 14:18
19:2 21:20,24
26:7,10,16
29:12,17 35:4
40:18,19 42:2
48:3,8 57:21
talked 44:20
51:13
talking 11:10
32:20 57:23
talks 60:17
target 36:21
targeted 26:19
38:19 44:12
targeting 36:9
tattoo 32:2
taught 31:15
tax 5:10
Taylor 24:24
teach 42:8
team 19:15 21:14
21:24 23:17
24:9,24 25:22
28:9,13,17
29:10 31:5
32:4 33:7 37:1
38:9 49:21,22
tear 62:11
technology 37:14
37:17 48:5
tell 23:25 44:4
47:7
teller 13:23,25
tend 51:5
tension 41:5
terms 55:1,16
testify 65:5
testimony 65:5
65:10
tests 34:4,10
thank 9:9,23
10:3,6,7 11:3
11:8 13:6
14:20 17:11
18:7 19:18
20:4 21:1,10
21:10,19 24:3
24:25 39:7,8

39:10 41:11
42:23 43:13,22
45:2 47:4,22
48:16 49:18,19
49:21,25 50:2
50:7 55:19
56:12,18,20,21
58:11 60:8
61:17,18,24,24
63:11,12 64:3
64:13
Thanks 24:2
58:12
Thanksgiving
4:22
Theresa 54:12
65:22
thing 11:13
16:22 26:6
35:19 51:4
59:7
things 11:2,15
11:19 15:24
16:22 17:5
28:12 31:23
32:22 36:18
37:15 41:4
43:1,9,11
47:25 51:14
57:14,20,22,24
57:25 58:3,5,9
58:19 60:19
62:13,17
think 14:15 15:8
19:22 20:2,8
20:13,16 25:22
26:8 31:11
35:13 39:6
42:9 49:11
51:11 52:8
53:9 59:17
61:15 62:20
63:16,21
thinking 57:23
Third 1:6 55:25
third-party
52:21
thought 46:6
58:18
three 4:24 12:9
12:11 21:24

22:25 31:20
34:15
three-prong
21:20
three-year-old
59:2
Thursday 1:3 4:2
5:1 26:7,8
36:23 42:2
48:21 55:23
56:1
Thursdays 4:25
29:17 40:18,19
time 11:6 12:1,3
12:6,8,14 13:4
15:15 18:10,24
21:11 27:3
28:2 29:21,23
31:18,24,25
33:25 41:20
47:7 50:4
51:14 56:4
57:4 58:10
60:4,8
timely 9:8
times 30:22 31:6
59:24
Timothy 7:12
50:11
tip-in 43:21
today 7:24 8:10
21:15 24:9
31:23 34:17
39:19 40:7
49:22 50:13
51:8,22 52:15
62:1,16,23,24
today's 15:3
told 31:20
tomorrow 10:22
27:1 29:18
tons 28:16
top 40:6 41:7
55:14
total 19:12
towing 6:5,10
59:10,13,14
town 15:7 25:19
31:1,2
track 6:8
trafficking 8:3

18:18,19,23
19:3,14,16
20:21
training 5:24,24
6:14 31:16
transaction
13:14
transcribed 65:8
transcript 65:9
transmit 50:14
transmitted
50:16
transparency
5:18
tried 16:5
tries 17:9
trigger 27:18
34:19
Trisha 21:13,16
39:17 40:5
44:14 47:6,16
49:22
trouble 9:19
true 65:9
truth 65:5
try 17:10 34:22
35:25 36:5
41:4 51:5
trying 15:23
23:7 34:5
55:14
Tuesday 20:10
turmoil 58:17
turn 23:23 48:19
turned 48:12
TV 18:24 58:22
twenty-something
21:7
two 15:24,25
24:18,20 31:17
31:20,21,21
33:25 34:15
37:25 41:6
42:13 55:7
56:6 58:22
59:19 61:4
two-minute 9:7
two-prong 27:14
type 8:21
typically 50:13

U

U.S 39:1 45:13
ultimately 8:20
19:11 36:8
unconditional
34:21
understand 7:18
31:13 42:15
52:4
understanding
41:6 42:12
undertaking 48:2
unfortunate
38:17
UNIDENTIFIED
9:25
unique 5:12
United 49:17
University 10:25
36:11
upcoming 10:23
updating 51:15
upstanding 58:10
use 5:10 53:15
uses 22:5
usually 47:8,10
utilize 14:9
36:14

V

variety 55:5
various 60:22
varying 51:13
vehicle 16:9,10
vehicles 12:24
12:25 13:2
53:15
vendor 53:7,20
versus 20:21
vice 19:10,13,15
victims 20:20
video 46:13,15
viewpoint 5:13
vigil 29:4
vigils 29:1
village 29:22
violence 8:1
22:7,24 30:23
35:25 36:21
38:23

visibility 36:7
visible 29:5
VOICES 19:7 64:8
64:11
volunteer 18:6

W

wage 60:24
Waldis 10:9
walk 17:3 27:24
43:25 44:1
walking 15:16
30:4
walks 29:7 44:6
want 4:14 6:17
9:1,12,20 10:1
11:2,3 14:14
15:23 16:2,22
18:9 21:18
25:24 26:4
27:22 29:11
35:5,7,8 39:23
41:15 42:24
47:24 48:3,10
48:14,18 49:6
49:14 50:8
51:17 56:15,20
57:20 58:7
59:6 62:2,13
62:21 63:1
wanted 25:9,15
25:18 43:16
48:23 51:22
53:16 56:11
62:22
wasn't 30:7
47:17
watch 18:12
52:17
watching 46:11
way 16:15 22:1
32:15 38:4
42:21 53:4
Wayne 7:13 10:24
42:17
ways 55:4 61:10
we'll 14:18
21:11 22:20
23:19 37:15
50:5 55:15,15
56:4 58:4 64:1

we're 12:1,3,6,9
12:12,13,16,20
12:24 13:1
15:11,24,25
16:1 19:2,11
22:11 23:2,9
26:23,25 27:1
27:4,18 29:5
32:7 34:5,13
35:22,22,23
36:2,6,10 40:7
41:7 42:17,20
44:24 47:17
49:3 52:9
55:10,10,14
63:24
we've 11:6 12:16
19:10,16 25:25
26:20,21 27:2
28:4,14 31:12
33:17 34:23
36:14 39:5
40:15,20,21,21
53:9 54:18
55:6 60:5
Wednesday 27:5
42:2
week 4:22 7:22
48:20 53:10
57:15 59:8
64:13
week's 51:11
weekend's 51:12
weekly 1:2 4:17
weeks 4:24 20:16
58:17
welcome 47:12
went 9:14 53:2
west 23:15 32:9
65:18
WHEREOF 65:17
William 2:6 4:10
Williams 2:14
4:19 7:19 10:5
10:7 13:7,16
13:25 14:3,6
14:17 15:12
17:16 18:8,25
21:11 47:24
Willie 2:3,5 4:8
4:10

winners 9:13
wish 35:1 59:15
witness 49:7,9
65:7,17
witnesses 65:4
witnessing 39:6
woman 58:23
women 9:10,14
11:3,17
wonders 60:16
Wood 9:16,17
10:4,4,4
work 5:3,6 8:21
9:18 11:18
17:18 18:4
22:7 26:2 33:3
33:4,4,5,5,24
37:1 38:5,9
48:25 49:25
58:2
worker 24:17
61:8
workers 24:21
working 15:11
42:17 43:20
47:17 49:4
54:24
works 21:5 22:6
Worthy 45:12,12
wouldn't 30:6
wound 10:11
wraparound 22:2
writing 65:6
written 37:11
wrong 54:10,15
Wyckoff 43:23

X

Y

y'all 44:9,10
57:21,23 58:5
58:7,8
yeah 46:21
year 6:2,16 9:14
12:1,3,3,5,6,7
12:8,12,13,14
12:17,18 13:1
13:1 19:17
22:18 23:14,18
31:18,19 38:13

38:25 41:8
48:9
year-to-date
11:24,25
years 21:7 29:21
30:1,3 31:21
31:22 32:1
34:3 37:2
yellow 16:9
yesterday 9:11
15:20 16:5
young 13:11 15:1
19:25 20:1
22:24 25:13
26:14 27:8,24
29:2,3 30:16
30:23 31:17
32:5,10 33:2,3
33:5 41:22
45:8,25 58:22
59:22 61:6,8
youth 25:5 26:6
42:3

Z

zero 12:21,23
zoo 49:16

0

1

1 22:19
10 3:4 35:20
10-4-2020 65:25
10:30 10:23
10500 56:3
11 23:20 42:25
43:4,8,20
11-year-old 15:8
16:8
117 28:5
11th 39:14,15,18
40:1,4,21
43:19 54:7
56:12
12 6:10 23:16
34:3
1301 1:6 55:24
13th 63:3
14 12:22
148 12:13

14th 56:1
15 19:12 30:1
60:24
151 12:7
16 12:6
16-year-old 15:3
16:7
18 12:1,2 22:19
18-'19 22:19
1900 38:18
1967 38:16
1995 8:1

2

2012 23:4
2013 23:11,12
2014 23:12
2015 23:12
2016 23:15 38:13
65:20
2017 11:25 28:5
38:13,25 39:5
2018 1:3 4:2 7:2
10:21 11:25
28:5 55:23
21 3:5
21st 47:9,14
22 12:24
23 12:16
24 1:3 4:2 38:24
25 12:20
267 38:14
288 25:7
2nd 56:1

3

3 2:7 4:25 16:1
33:14 55:23
3:00 1:4
3:31 4:3
30 7:2 27:2
300 16:19
305 38:13
30th 7:10 27:5
31 55:23
33 12:4
36 33:8
3rd 39:13,13
54:6 56:13
65:19

4

4 2:3 3:2,3
23:16 33:14
4:37 64:15
48207 1:7

5

5 2:5 23:10,14
58:21
50 3:6
55 3:7
57 3:9
58 3:10
59 39:3
5th 40:14,20

6

6 23:15 33:22
47:10
6:30 5:1 56:1
60 3:11
61 3:12
64 3:14
68 33:12
691 12:25

7

7 2:6 23:16
26:25 43:2
7.00 13:14 14:3
14:11
70 12:16
75 12:4 32:8
77 48:8
7th 40:21

8

8 23:15 26:12,13
800,000 22:20,25
825 12:20
88 38:25
8th 5:22 6:11
10:24 27:6
42:1

9

9 23:10,14 26:12
33:22 43:2
9th 5:23 6:12
25:6 26:23

42:1